# FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY CLUJ-NAPOCA, ROMÂNIA

László Szilárd Csaba

## The theory of monotone operators with applications

Ph.D. Thesis Summary

Scientific Advisor: Prof.Univ.Dr. Kassay Gábor

CLUJ-NAPOCA

23 September 2011











# Contents

#### Introduction

1	Monotone operators, convex functions and closed countable sets							
	1.1	The n	nonotonicity of real-valued functions of one real variable	11				
		1.1.1	Locally increasing real-valued functions of one real variable	11				
		1.1.2	Local generalized monotonicity of the real valued functions of one real variable	11				
	1.2	Locally monotone operators						
		1.2.1	Locally increasing operators on the complement of a closed countable set	12				
		1.2.2	Generalized monotone operators on the complement of a closed countable set	14				
	1.3	Applie	cations	15				
		1.3.1	Some injectivity results	15				
		1.3.2	Applications to convex functions	15				
2	$\theta-\mathbf{n}$	$\theta$ -monotone operators and $\theta$ -convex functions 1						
	2.1	$\theta - m \theta$	onotone operators	19				
		2.1.1	On some properties of $\theta$ -monotone operators	19				
		2.1.2	Maximal $\theta$ -monotone operators $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	20				
		2.1.3	Locally $\theta$ -monotone operators	21				
	2.2	$\theta$ -convex functions						
	2.3	Applications to surjectivity results						
	2.4	Final remarks and comments						
3	Variational inequalities 23							
	3.1	Gener	alized variational inequalities	25				
	3.2	.2 Operators of Type ql						
		3.2.1	Some characterizations of monotonicity of real valued functions of one real					
			variable	26				
		3.2.2	Some properties of operators of type ql	26				
	3.3	Exist	ence of the Solutions of Some Generalized Variational Inequalities	28				
		3.3.1	Stampacchia type variational inequalities	28				
		3.3.2	Minty type variational inequalities	29				
		3.3.3	The inverted problems	30				
		3.3.4	Multivalued variational inequalities	30				
	3.4	Applie	cations to fixed point theorems	31				

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

4	The	sum j	problems in Banach spaces	33				
	4.1	Prelin	ninaries	33				
		4.1.1	Interiority notions and Fenchel conjugate	33				
		4.1.2	Maximal monotone operators and representative functions	34				
	4.2	About	some stable strong duality problems	35				
		4.2.1	Conjugate duality	35				
		4.2.2	Fenchel duality	36				
		4.2.3	Stable strong duality for the problem having the composition with a linear					
			continuous operator in the objective function $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	37				
		4.2.4	Stable strong duality for the problem having the sum of two functions each					
			composed with a linear continuous operator in the objective function	38				
	4.3	The co	onjugate of some generalized inf-convolution formulas	39				
		4.3.1	The inf-convolution formulas $\Box_1$ and $\Box_2$	39				
		4.3.2	The inf-convolution formulas $\Box_1^A$ and $\Box_2^A$	40				
		4.3.3	The inf-convolution formulas $\triangle_1^A$ and $\triangle_2^A$	40				
		4.3.4	The inf-convolution formulas $\bigcirc_1^A$ and $\bigcirc_2^A$	41				
4.4 The maximal mon			naximal monotonicity of the parallel sums of two maximal monotone operators					
		of Gos	sez type (D) $\ldots$	41				
		4.4.1	The maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum $S  T$	41				
		4.4.2	The maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum $S  ^{A}T$	42				
		4.4.3	The maximal monotonicity of the operator $S + A^*TA$	43				
		4.4.4	The maximal monotonicity of $S  _A T$	43				
Bi	Bibliography 4							

## Introduction

The concept of monotonicity for operators defined on a Banach space into its dual has been introduced some fifty years ago by the celebrated works of Browder and Minty (see, for example, [22–24], [91,92]. This notion (often called *Minty-Browder monotonicity*) have shown to be a cornerstone for the development of nonlinear analysis, especially in convex analysis, due to the fact that convexity of a proper, lower semicontinuous function can be characterized by monotonicity of its subdifferential (see, for instance, [34, 115]).

During the last decades, the concept of Minty-Browder monotonicity has imposed itself, due to its importance, and influenced some other branches of mathematics, such as differential equations, as well as economics, engineering, management science, probability theory and other applied sciences. Due to these interactions the concepts of monotonicity alongside with convexity were subjects of a dynamical evolution reflected in a number of new concepts - extensions of the classical assumption of monotonicity and convexity without the loss of valuable properties (see, for instance, [27], [55], [62], [94], [111] and the references therein).

This work is based on the original results of the author from 10 scientific papers, all submitted to prestigious journals, some of them accepted or already published, while the other ones are under review. The work is organized as follows. After a brief introduction, in **Chapter 1** the notions of monotone operator in the Minty-Browder sense and its most known generalizations are presented, such as the concepts of quasimonotonicity, strict quasimonotonicity, pseudomonotonicity and strict pseudomonotonicity. In many situations it is rather difficult to verify global monotonicity, respectively global generalized monotonicity of an operator. Instead, its counterpart the local monotonicity, respectively local generalized monotonicity, (i.e. every point admits a neighborhood on which the operator is monotone, respectively generalized monotone) seems to be easier to verify under some circumstances. In this chapter we prove that the local increasing monotonicity, respectively the local generalized monotonicity of an operator on the complement of a closed set having countable intersection with every segment implies its global increasing monotonicity, respectively its global generalized monotonicity. This particularly shows that locally convex, respectively locally generalized convex, differentiable functions are actually globally convex, respectively globally generalized convex. However, there is an exception: we will give an example of a continuous, locally quasimonotone real valued function of one real variable, defined on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}$ , which is not globally quasimonotone on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Hence, the quasiconvexity is also an exception: we will give an example of a continuously differentiable, locally quasiconvex real valued function of one real variable, defined on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}$ , which is not globally quasiconvex on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Further, we give an example of a continuous locally Minty-Browder monotone operator, defined on a connected but not convex subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , which is not even quasimonotone globally. This shows that the convexity of the domain is essential when extending the local monotonicity to the global monotonicity. By an example we show, that our results cannot be extended for multivalued upper semicontinuous operators. This fact is surprising, since, as in Chapter 2. is shown, local (generalized) monotonicity of a multivalued operator, in general, implies its global counterpart without any continuity assumption imposed on operator, if the domain of the operator is convex.

On the hand, in [73], the authors proved that monotone operators have convex preimages, which shows that locally injective monotone operators are actually globally injective. Combining these facts, we are able to provide some global injectivity results for certain operators satisfying some analytical conditions of Gale-Nikaido type (see, for instance, [47]) which ensure both the local injectivity and the local increasing monotonicity. The authors's contributions with respect to these topics have been published in G. Kassay, C. Pintea, **S. László**: [72] and **S. László**: [77].

In Chapter 2 we introduce the concept of  $\theta$ -monotonicity for operators and the concept of  $\theta$ -convexity for real valued functions. These concepts contain as particular cases several monotonicity, respectively, convexity notions already known in literature. We also establish some fundamental properties of operators having this monotonicity property. The concept of a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator is also introduced, and it is shown that such an operator has convex and closed values. Further we are going to analyze some conditions which ensure that the local  $\theta$ -monotonicity property of an operator provides the global  $\theta$ -monotonicity property for that operator. Via some examples it is shown that the  $\theta$ -monotonicity is more general than most of monotonicity properties known in literature, while an example of a  $\theta$ -monotone operator is given, which is not even quasimonotone. An analytical condition on the function  $\theta$  that ensures, beside some extra requirements, the  $\theta$ -convexity of a real valued function is also established. It is shown that the  $\theta$ -convexity property of a function is more general than the majority of the convexity properties known in literature, while an example of a  $\theta$ -convex function is given, which is not even quasiconvex. First we establish some fundamental properties of the operators having the  $\theta$ -monotonicity property. We provide some conditions that ensure their local boundedness. We show that under some circumstances the inverse of a  $\theta$ -monotone operator is also  $\theta$ -monotone. We introduce the concept of a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator and we show that these operators have as values closed and convex subsets of  $X^*$ , and that, if the function  $\theta$  is continuous, then their graph is demi-closed. Further, we introduce the concept of a locally  $\theta$ -monotone operator, and we give a sufficient condition involving  $\theta$ , guaranteeing that the local  $\theta$ -monotonicity property of an operator provides the global  $\theta$ -monotonicity property for that operator. Further, an analytical condition involving the function  $\theta$  is given which ensures the local  $\theta$ -monotonicity of an operator. Via some examples it is shown that the concept of  $\theta$ -monotonicity is larger than most of the monotonicity notions known in literature. In the next section we introduce the notion of a  $\theta$ -convex, respectively, weak  $\theta$ -convex function and we show, that under some circumstances, a differentiable function is a  $\theta$ -convex if and only if its differential is a  $2\theta$ -monotone operator. Also here an example of  $\theta$ -convex function that is not even quasiconvex, is given. We end this chapter by presenting some applications of our results and obtaining some surjectivity results in finite dimensional spaces. Finally, we underly some possible further related research. The authors's contributions with respect to these topics have been published in the work S. László: [79].

The variational inequality theory, which is mainly due to Stampacchia (see [124]) and Fichera (see [45]) provides very powerful techniques for studying problems arising in mechanics, optimization, transportation, economics equilibrium, contact problems in elasticity, and other branches of mathematics. For instance the free boundary value problem can be studied effectively in the framework of variational inequalities, the moving boundary value problem can be characterized by a class of variational inequalities, the traffic assignment problem is a variational inequality problem (see [5, 10, 38]). However, the variational inequality theory so far developed is applicable for studying free and moving boundary value problems of even order.

In recent years, many generalizations of variational inequalities have been considered, studied and applied in various directions (see [9]). General variational inequalities, which were introduced and studied by Noor [99], are an important and useful generalization of variational inequalities. It was realized that the general variational inequality can be used to study both the odd- and even-order free and moving boundary value problems. It has been shown that general variational inequalities provide us with an unified, simple, and natural framework to study a wide class of problems including unilateral, moving, obstacle, free, equilibrium, and economics arising in various areas of pure and applied sciences.

In **Chapter 3**, we give some existence results of the solutions for several general variational inequalities. We introduce a new class of operators, that contain in particular the class of linear operators, and we extend some results already established for general variational inequalities involving linear operators.

First, the notion of general variational inequality is presented, which was introduced by Noor. We introduce a similar variational inequality that will be called *general variational inequality of* Stampacchia type, and we introduce its counterpart, that will be called general variational inequality of Minty type. Also here some generalization for variational inequalities involving multivalued operators are presented. In the next section we introduce a new type of operator, the so called operator of type ql, which on one hand may be viewed as the generalization of the monotonicity of real valued functions of one real variable, one the other hand may be viewed as the generalization of the notion of linear operator. Also here are established some fundamental properties of the operators of this type. It is shown that for operators having their range a subset of real numbers, this class coincides with the class of quasilinear functions. At the end of the section is established a property for these type of operators, that will be intensively used in the next section to provide some existence results of the solutions for several generalized variational inequalities. The next section deals with general variational inequalities of Stampacchia type and of Minty type respectively. Relying on the concept of operators that were introduced previously, some sufficient conditions that ensure the existence of the solutions for the general variational inequalities of Stampacchia type are provided. Also here some sufficient conditions are provided, which ensure that the solutions of the general variational inequalities of Stampacchia type and the solutions the general variational inequalities of Minty type coincide. We give some sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions of so called inverted problems. By examples are shown, that the existence results for these problems fail outside the class of operators that where introduced in this chapter. As consequences are obtained some well known classic results. Further, we give some existence results of the solution for some generalized variational inequalities involving multivalued operators. Also here, the fact that one of the operators involved is of type ql, is intensively used via Fan's minimax theorem. As applications we obtain some easy proofs of Brouwer's, respectively Kakutani's fixed point theorem. The authors's contributions with respect to these topics have been published in S. László: [78,80,81].

It is worthwhile to stress that several open questions are still unanswered even within the theory of classical Minty-Browder monotone operators. One of the most interesting is the so called sum problem. It is well known that in a reflexive Banach space the sum of two (set-valued) maximal monotone operators is still maximal monotone, provided the domain of one of them intersects the interior of the domain of the other (cf. Rockafellar see [114]), but in the nonreflexive case it is still unknown whether this condition is sufficient. However, there are several results, that in particular validate this conjecture. Motivated by a study of parallel connection of electrical multiports, Anderson and Duffin (see [2]) introduced the concept of parallel addition of matrices. Passty (see [104]) approached the parallel sum of arbitrary nonlinear monotone operators starting from the following situation arising from electricity: if two resistors having resistance S and T are connected in parallel, Kirchhoff's law and Ohm's law can be combined to show that their joint resistance is  $(S^{-1} + T^{-1})^{-1}$ . The same considerations apply to parallel connections of electrical multiports. Instead of resistances which are positive real numbers, however, one must work with impedance operators which map a finite- or infinite dimensional space into itself. There then arises the issue of proper extension of the joint resistance formula given above. Motivated from above, but also inspired from the significant number of results concerning on the problem of maximality of the sum of two maximal monotone operators, Penot and Zălinescu in [109] introduced the concepts of *generalized parallel sums*. A related problem - that was still open till now - is the following: due to our best knowledge in the literature did not exist any regularity condition that ensures the maximal monotonicity of the generalized parallel sums. Nevertheless, there exists some interior point regularity conditions that ensure the maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum.

In Chapter 4 we give a closeness type regularity condition concerning on this problem, and, by an example, we show that our condition is the weakest among those already known in the literature. Concerning on the generalized parallel sums, we will give several regularity conditions, both closedness and interior point type, and we show that our results cannot be deduced from the results known in the literature. Nevertheless, many known results, concerning on the sum of two maximal monotone operator, S+T, respectively  $S+A^{*}TA$ , where S and T are maximal monotone operators, A is a linear, continuous operator and  $A^*$  its adjoint operator, are easy consequences of ours. Our results are based on the concepts of representative function and Fenchel conjugate, while the technique, used to establish closedness type, respectively interior-point type regularity conditions, that ensure the maximal monotonicity of these sums, is stable strong duality. In this chapter we deal with the sum problems involving strongly representable operators in nonreflexive Banach spaces, hence, according to a recent result of Marques Alves and Svaiter, our results also hold for operators of negative infimum type (see [119]) and of Gossez type (D) in arbitrary Banach spaces, (see Remark 4.1.1). As particular cases, beside new results, we will establish some well known ones in the setting of reflexive Banach spaces. We give an useful application for the stable strong duality, involving the function  $f \circ A + g \circ B$ , where f and g are proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions, and A and B, respectively are linear operators. Let us mention, that due to our best knowledge, this problem was not considered till now in the literature, since it has had no field of applicability. We also introduce some new generalized inf-convolution formulas, and establish some result concerning on their Fenchel conjugate. Collaterally with our new results, we obtain some known ones, using the same technique, even more, we show that many of our results can not be obtained using the known techniques from the literature. The authors's contributions with respect to these topics have been published in the works R.I. Bot, S. László: [20] and S. László: [82], [83], [84].

#### Keywords

Minty-Browder monotonicity; generalized monotonicity; generalized convexity; locally monotone operator; generalized variational inequality; KKM mapping; Minty's lemma; Ky Fan's lemma; fixed point theorem; conjugate functions; strong quasi-relative interior; conjugate duality; regularity conditions; maximal monotone operators; Fitzpatrick function; representative function; parallel sum;

#### Acknowledgement

Investing in people! PhD scholarship, Project co-financed by the SECTORAL OPERATIONAL PROGRAMME HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT 2007 - 2013 Priority Axis 1 "Education and training in support for growth and development of a knowledge based society" Key area of intervention 1.5: Doctoral and post-doctoral programmes in support of research. Contract POSDRU 6/1.5/S/3 - "DOCTORAL STUDIES: THROUGH SCIENCE TOWARDS SOCIETY" Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania.

## Chapter 1

# Monotone operators, convex functions and closed countable sets

#### 1.1 The monotonicity of real-valued functions of one real variable

#### 1.1.1 Locally increasing real-valued functions of one real variable

In this section we prove that the locally increasing monotonicity property of real-valued functions of one real variable, on the complement of a closed countable set, implies the global increasing monotonicity property for that function.

Let be  $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  and let  $f : I \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function. One says that f is (monotone) increasing (respectively decreasing) on I, if for every  $x, y \in I$ ,  $x \leq y$  one has  $f(x) \leq f(y)$ , (respectively  $f(x) \geq f(y)$ ).

It can be easily observed that the monotonicity property of the real valued function f is equivalent with one of the following inequalities

(1. 1) 
$$(f(x) - f(y))(x - y) \ge 0$$
, for all  $x, y \in I$ ,

respectively

(1. 2) 
$$(f(x) - f(y))(x - y) \le 0$$
, for all  $x, y \in I$ .

The first inequality is satisfied if, and only if, f is increasing, while the second one is satisfied if, and only if, f is decreasing.

One says that f is locally increasing if for all  $t \in I$  there exists an open interval  $J_t \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ , with  $t \in J_t$ , such that the restriction  $f|_{J_t \cap I}$  is increasing.

The next result provides a sufficient condition for global monotonicity.

**Theorem 1.1.1.** Let  $J \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  be an open interval and  $f : J \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous function. If  $Y \subseteq J$  is a countable set, closed relative to J, such that f is locally increasing on  $J \setminus Y$ , then f is increasing on J.

## 1.1.2 Local generalized monotonicity of the real valued functions of one real variable

In this section we prove that most of the local generalized monotonicity of real-valued functions of one real variable, on the complement of a closed countable set, provide their global counterpart. However the case of quasimonotonicity is an exception, for which a counterexample is given.

We recall that the function  $f: I \subseteq \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is called pseudomonotone (see [36, 53, 55, 67, 69]), if for all  $x, y \in I$ ,

$$f(x)(y-x) \ge 0 \implies f(y)(y-x) \ge 0,$$

or equivalently, for all  $x, y \in I$ ,

$$f(x)(y-x) > 0 \implies f(y)(y-x) > 0.$$

f is called strictly pseudomonotone (see [55, 68, 69]), if for all  $x, y \in I, x \neq y$ ,

$$f(x)(y-x) \ge 0 \implies f(y)(y-x) > 0.$$

The function f is called quasimonotone (see [36, 53, 55, 58, 68, 69]), if for all  $x, y \in I$ ,

$$f(x)(y-x) > 0 \implies f(y)(y-x) \ge 0.$$

Let I be an interval. f is called strictly quasimonotone (see [36, 55, 56]), if f is quasimonotone, and for all  $x, y \in I$ ,  $x \neq y$  there exists  $z \in (x, y)$  such that  $f(z)(y - x) \neq 0$ .

Using the previous definitions, we are able to define the notion of local generalized monotonicity of one dimensional maps. Let  $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  and let  $f: I \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function.

One says that f is locally quasimonotone, (respectively locally strictly quasimonotone, locally pseudmonotone, locally strictly pseudmonotone) if for all  $t \in I$  there exists an open interval  $J_t \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ , with  $t \in J_t$ , such that the restriction  $f|_{J_t \cap I}$  is quasimonotone, (respectively strictly quasimonotone, pseudmonotone, strictly pseudmonotone).

The next result provides a sufficient condition for global strict quasimonotonicity, (respectively global pseudomonotonicity, global strict pseudomonotonicity).

**Theorem 1.1.2.** Let  $J \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  be an open interval and  $f : J \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous function. If  $Y \subseteq J$  is a closed countable set such that f is locally strictly quasimonotone, (respectively locally pseudomonotone, locally strictly pseudomonotone) on  $J \setminus Y$ , and  $f(x) \neq 0$  for all  $x \in Y$ , then f is strictly quasimonotone, (respectively pseudomonotone, strictly pseudomonotone) on J.

However local quasimonotonicity does not imply global quasimonotonicity even if the function f is continuous, as the next example shows.

**Example 1.1.1.** Let us consider the function  $f : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f(x) = \begin{cases} -x - 1, \text{ if } x < -1, \\ 0, \text{ if } x \in [-1, 1], \\ -x + 1, \text{ if } x > 1. \end{cases}$ 

It is easy to check that f is locally quasimonotone on  $\mathbb{R}$ . On the other hand for x = -2 and y = 2 we have min  $\{f(x)(y-x), f(y)(x-y)\} = 4$  which shows that f is not globally quasimonotone.

#### **1.2** Locally monotone operators

#### 1.2.1 Locally increasing operators on the complement of a closed countable set

Let X be a Banach space and let  $X^*$  be its topological dual. For  $x \in X$  and  $x^* \in X^*$  denote by  $\langle x^*, x \rangle$  the scalar  $x^*(x)$ . Recall that an operator  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$ , where D is a subset of X is said to be *Minty-Browder monotone* if either  $\langle Tx - Ty, x - y \rangle \ge 0$  for all  $x, y \in D$  or  $\langle Tx - Ty, x - y \rangle \le 0$  for all  $x, y \in D$ . The inequality symbol " $\ge$ " corresponds to Minty-Browder *increasing* operators, while the inequality symbol " $\le$ " corresponds to Minty-Browder *decreasing* operators.

**Definition 1.2.1.** Let X be a Banach space and  $D \subseteq X$  be an open subset. An operator  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$  is said to be locally Minty-Browder increasing if each  $x \in D$  has an open neighborhood  $U_x \subseteq D$ , such that the restriction  $T|_{U_x}: U_x \longrightarrow X^*$  is a Minty-Browder increasing operator.

**Definition 1.2.2.** Let X be a Banach space and  $\emptyset \neq D \subseteq X$ . An operator  $T : D \longrightarrow X^*$  is said to be quasi-monotone, if  $\langle Ty, x - y \rangle \geq 0$  implies  $\langle Tx, x - y \rangle \geq 0$ , for all  $x, y \in D$ .

**Remark 1.2.1.** If  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$  is a Minty-Browder increasing operator, then T is quasi-monotone. However, the property does not hold if we replace the global increasing monotonicity with the local increasing monotonicity and remove the convexity assumption on D.

**Example 1.2.1.** We provide an example of an open connected set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ , which is not convex, and a locally increasing, continuous operator  $T: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$  which is not globally increasing. Our operator is, in fact, not even quasi-monotone. Indeed, let

$$D = (-1,1) \times (-1,1) \setminus \left\{ (-1,0] \times \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \right\} \cup \{0\} \times \left( -\frac{1}{2}, 0 \right] \right\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$$

and

$$U_1 = \left\{ (x, y) : x \in \left( -1, -\frac{1}{2} \right), x \le y < -\frac{1}{2} \right\} \subset D,$$
$$U_2 = \left\{ (x, y) : x \in (-1, 0), -\frac{1}{2} < y \le -x \right\} \subset D.$$

We now consider the operator  $T: D \to \mathbb{R}^2$ , T(x, y) = (p(x, y), q(x, y)), where

$$p(x,y) = \begin{cases} x+y, & \text{if } (x,y) \in D \setminus (U_1 \cup U_2), \\ 2x, & \text{if } (x,y) \in U_1, \\ 0, & \text{if } (x,y) \in U_2, \end{cases} \qquad q(x,y) = \begin{cases} -x+y, & \text{if } (x,y) \in D \setminus (U_1 \cup U_2), \\ 0, & \text{if } (x,y) \in U_1, \\ 2y, & \text{if } (x,y) \in U_2. \end{cases}$$

It is easy to check that T is locally increasing and it is continuous. On the other hand

$$\langle T(x,y), (u,v) - (x,y) \rangle = 2x(u-x) = \frac{3}{40} > 0$$

and

$$\langle T(u,v), (u,v) - (x,y) \rangle = 2v(v-y) = -\frac{5}{24} < 0$$

with  $(x, y) = \left(-\frac{3}{4}, -\frac{2}{3}\right) \in U_1$ ,  $(u, v) = \left(-\frac{4}{5}, -\frac{1}{4}\right) \in U_2$ . This shows that T is not quasi-monotone.

In what follows, let X be a Banach space and  $C \subseteq D \subseteq X$  with D open and convex and C closed relative to D with empty interior, such that the intersection  $[x, y] \cap C$  is countable, possibly empty, for all  $x, y \in D \setminus C$ . Note that such a C is actually a proper subset of D.

**Remark 1.2.2.** Examples of subsets  $C \subset D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  which satisfy the above requirements, consist in finite families of spheres  $S(p,r) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x - p|| = r\}$  in D, since spheres do not contain segments. However there are sets C containing segments still satisfying these requirements. Indeed, every real algebraic variety has the mentioned properties. In particular let  $D = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x|| < 1\}$ and

$$C = \left\{ x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in D : \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i^2 = \frac{1}{4} \right\}$$

The figure below shows an example of such set C.



Here D is an open disk from  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , and C is the union of a finite number of open line segments having their endpoints on the boundary of D.

**Definition 1.2.3.** Let  $T: X \longrightarrow X^*$  be an operator. We say that T is hemicontinuous at  $x \in X$ , if for all  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}, t_n \longrightarrow 0, n \longrightarrow \infty$  and  $y \in X$ , we have  $T(x + t_n y) \rightharpoonup^* Tx, n \longrightarrow \infty$ , where " $\rightharpoonup^*$ " denotes the convergence with respect to the weak\* topology of  $X^*$ .

The next result provides, in a Banach space context, a sufficient condition for global monotonicity.

**Theorem 1.2.1.** If  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$  is a hemicontinuous operator whose restriction  $T|_{D\setminus C}$  is locally Minty-Browder increasing, then T is Minty-Browder increasing on D.

# 1.2.2 Generalized monotone operators on the complement of a closed countable set

In this section we extend the results from the previous section for generalized monotone operators defined on an open and convex subset of a real Banach space. In previous section we proved, that for an operator defined on the open and convex subset D of the real Banach space X, the local Minty-Browder monotonicity of the operator on the complement of a closed countable set implies its global Minty-Browder monotonicity. However, for generalized monotone maps this implication is no more true in the absence of further conditions.

Let X be a real Banach space,  $X^*$  its dual,  $D \subseteq X$  a subset of X, and  $T : D \longrightarrow X^*$  an operator. We denote by int Y the interior of the set  $Y \subseteq X$ , and by (x, y) the open line segment in X with the endpoints x and y, i.e.  $(x, y) = \{z \in X : z = x + t(y - x), t \in (0, 1)\}$ . The closed segment [x, y] with the endpoints  $x, y \in X$  is defined as usual, i.e.  $[x, y] = \{z \in X : z = x + t(y - x), t \in [0, 1]\}$ .

We recall that the operator T is called pseudomonotone (see [36,53,55,67,69]), if for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $\langle Tx, y - x \rangle \ge 0$  implies  $\langle Ty, y - x \rangle \ge 0$ , or equivalently, for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $\langle Tx, y - x \rangle > 0$  implies  $\langle Ty, y - x \rangle > 0$ .

T is called strictly pseudomonotone (see [55, 68, 69]), if for all  $x, y \in D, x \neq y, \langle Tx, y - x \rangle \ge 0$ implies  $\langle Ty, y - x \rangle > 0$ .

The operator T is called quasimonotone (see [36,53,55,58,68,69]), if for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $\langle Tx, y-x \rangle > 0$  implies  $\langle Ty, y-x \rangle \geq 0$ .

Let D be convex. T is called strictly quasimonotone (see [36, 55, 56]), if T is quasimonotone, and for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  there exists  $z \in (x, y)$  such that  $\langle Tz, y - x \rangle \neq 0$ .

Next we give several definitions for local generalized monotonicity of operators on a Banach space.

**Definition 1.2.4.** Let X be a real Banach space,  $X^*$  its dual,  $D \subseteq X$  an open subset of X, and  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$  an operator. One says that T is locally quasimonotone (respectively, locally

strictly quasimonotone, locally pseudomonotone, locally strictly pseudomonotone), if for all  $z \in D$ there exists an open neighborhood  $U_z \subseteq D$  of z, such that the restriction  $T|_{U_z}$  is quasimonotone, (respectively, strictly quasimonotone, pseudomonotone, strictly pseudomonotone).

In what follows, X denotes a real Banach space, and let  $C \subseteq D \subseteq X$  with D open and convex, and C closed relative to D, with empty interior, such that the intersection  $[x, y] \cap C$  is countable, possibly empty, for all  $x, y \in D \setminus C$ .

The next result provides, in a Banach space context, a sufficient condition for global strict quasimonotonicity (respectively, pseudomonotonicity, strict pseudomonotonicity).

**Theorem 1.2.2.** If  $T: D \longrightarrow X^*$  is a hemicontinuous operator with the property that  $\langle Tz, y - x \rangle \neq 0$  for all  $z \in [x, y] \cap C$ ,  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  and whose restriction  $T|_{D\setminus C}$  is locally strictly quasimonotone, (respectively, locally pseudomonotone, locally strictly pseudomonotone), then T is strictly quasimonotone, (respectively, pseudomonotone, strictly pseudomonotone), on D.

#### 1.3 Applications

#### 1.3.1 Some injectivity results

In this section we apply the results from section 1.2.1 to prove some injectivity results under certain classical hypothesis which are imposed on the complements of the same type of sets as before.

Let C and D be the same sets as in Section 1.2.1.

**Proposition 1.3.1.** If *H* is a Hilbert space and  $T: D \subseteq H \longrightarrow H$  is a continuous operator which is of class  $C^1$  on  $D \setminus C$  and has the property  $\langle (dT)_x(y), y \rangle > 0$  for all  $x \in D \setminus C$  and all  $y \in H \setminus \{0\}$ , and *C* does not contain line segments, then *T* is injective.

**Corollary 1.3.1.** If  $D \setminus C$  is connected and  $f : D \subseteq \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  is a continuous function which is also of class  $C^1$  on  $D \setminus C$  and satisfies the inequality

$$Re\frac{\partial f}{\partial z}(z) > \left|\frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}}(z)\right|$$

for all  $z \in D \setminus C$ , and C does not contain line segments, then f is injective.

#### **1.3.2** Applications to convex functions

For the first part of this section our goal is to provide sufficient conditions for convexity of real-valued functions. Taking into account that the convexity of real-valued functions of class  $C^1$  defined on open convex subsets of Hilbert spaces is characterized by the monotonicity of the gradient operator (see [34]), we may get, as a consequence of our results presented in the previous section some global convexity theorem of real-valued functions based on their local convexity. In what follows H denotes a real Hilbert space, and let C and D the same sets as in Section 2.2. We shall need the following definitions and results related to generalized convex functions.

**Definition 1.3.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  an open subset of a locally convex space. A real-valued function  $f : \mathfrak{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is said to be locally convex if every point  $x \in \mathfrak{D}$  has a convex and open neighborhood  $U_x \subseteq \mathfrak{D}$  such that the restriction  $f|_{U_x}$  is convex.

**Theorem 1.3.1.** If H is a Hilbert space and  $f : D \subseteq H \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a function of class  $C^1$  and locally convex on  $D \setminus C$ , then f is globally convex.

A real valued function f defined on the open convex subset D of H, is called quasiconvex (see [36,53,62,105]), respectively strictly quasiconvex (see [36,105]), if for all  $x, y \in D$  and  $t \in [0,1]$ , we have

$$f(y) \le f(x) \Longrightarrow f(tx + (1-t)y) \le f(x),$$

respectively for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  and  $t \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$f(y) \le f(x) \Longrightarrow f(tx + (1-t)y) < f(x),$$

or equivalently for all  $x, y \in D$  and  $t \in [0, 1]$ , we have

$$f(tx + (1 - t)y) \le \max\{f(x), f(y)\},\$$

respectively for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  and  $t \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$f(tx + (1 - t)y) < \max\{f(x), f(y)\}.$$

**Remark 1.3.1.** A differentiable quasiconvex function f can be characterized by its differential (see [55]), i.e. f is quasiconvex on the open convex subset D of H, if and only if, for every pair of points  $x, y \in D$  we have

$$f(y) \le f(x) \Longrightarrow \langle \nabla f(x), y - x \rangle \le 0,$$

where  $\nabla f$  denotes the gradient operator.

A real valued differentiable function f defined on the open convex subset D of H, is called pseudoconvex (see [4,35,36,52,54]), respectively strictly pseudoconvex (see [35,36,52–54]) on D, if for every pair of distinct points  $x, y \in D$  we have

$$\langle \nabla f(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0 \Longrightarrow f(y) \ge f(x),$$

respectively

$$\langle \nabla f(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0, \ x \ne y \Longrightarrow f(y) > f(x)$$

The next result is well-known, see for instance [30, 55, 68].

**Proposition 1.3.2.** Let f be differentiable on the open convex subset D of H. Then f is pseudoconvex, (respectively strictly pseudoconvex) on D, if and only if,  $\nabla f$  is pseudomonotone, (respectively strictly pseudomonotone) on D.

Next we give the definitions of some locally generalized convex functions.

**Definition 1.3.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  an open subset of a locally convex space. A real-valued function  $f: \mathfrak{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is said to be locally quasiconvex, (respectively locally strictly quasiconvex, locally pseudoconvex, locally strictly pseudoconvex) if every point  $x \in \mathfrak{D}$  has a convex and open neighborhood  $U_x \subseteq \mathfrak{D}$  such that the restriction  $f|_{U_x}$  is quasiconvex, (respectively strictly quasiconvex, pseudoconvex, strictly pseudoconvex).

In what follows we provide, in a Hilbert space context, a sufficient condition for strict quasiconvexity, (respectively, pseudoconvexity, strict pseudoconvexity), of a locally strictly quasiconvex, (respectively, locally pseudoconvex, locally strictly pseudoconvex), function. **Theorem 1.3.2.** Let  $f : D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a continuously differentiable, locally strictly quasiconvex, (respectively, locally pseudoconvex, locally strictly pseudoconvex), function on  $D \setminus C$ . If  $\nabla f$  has the property, that  $\langle \nabla f(z), x - y \rangle \neq 0$  for all  $z \in [x, y] \cap C$ ,  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  then f is globally strictly quasiconvex, (respectively, globally pseudoconvex, globally strictly pseudoconvex), on D.

However, as we have seen in Example 1.1.1, the local quasimonotonicity does not imply the global quasimonotonicity. Next we will give an example of a continuously differentiable locally quasiconvex function, which is not globally quasiconvex.

**Example 1.3.1.** Let us consider the function  $F : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$F(x) := \begin{cases} -\frac{x^2}{2} - x, \text{ if } x < -1, \\ \frac{1}{2}, \text{ if } x \in [-1, 1], \\ -\frac{x^2}{2} + x, \text{ if } x > 1. \end{cases}$$

It can be easily checked that F is an antiderivative of f given in Example 1.1.1, consequently F is continuously differentiable.

We know that any monotone (increasing/decreasing) function from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  is quasiconvex. Since F is locally monotone we obtain that F is locally quasiconvex.

On the other hand, for x = -2 and y = 2 we have:  $F\left(\frac{1}{2} \cdot (-2) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\right) \cdot (2)\right) = F(0) = \frac{1}{2} > \max\{F(-2), F(2)\} = 0$ , which shows that F is not globally quasiconvex.

## Chapter 2

# $\theta$ -monotone operators and $\theta$ -convex functions

#### 2.1 $\theta$ -monotone operators

#### 2.1.1 On some properties of $\theta$ -monotone operators

In this section we present some properties of multivalued  $\theta$ -monotone operators. As a main result of the section we show, in a Hilbert space context, that under some mild requirements imposed on the function  $\theta$ , a  $\theta$ -monotone operator is locally bounded. We also establish a condition on the function  $\theta$  that ensures that the inverse of a  $\theta$ -monotone operator is  $\theta$ -monotone too.

In what follows we introduce the concept of  $\theta$ -monotonicity for an operator. Let X be a real Banach space with its dual denoted by  $X^*$ , and let  $T: X \Rightarrow X^*$  be a multivalued operator. We denote by  $D(T) = \{x \in X : Tx \neq \emptyset\}$  its domain and by  $R(T) = \bigcup_{x \in D(T)} Tx$  its range. The graph of the operator T is the set  $G(T) = \{(x, u) \in X \times X^* : u \in Tx\}$ . Let  $\theta: X \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a given function with the property that  $\theta(x, y) = \theta(y, x)$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$ .

**Definition 2.1.1.** We say that T is  $\theta$ -monotone, if

(2. 1) 
$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge \theta(x, y) ||x - y||$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ .

T is called strictly  $\theta$ -monotone if in (2.1) equality holds only for x = y.

To this respect single-valued  $\theta$ -monotone operators are those  $\theta$ -monotone operators  $T: X \rightrightarrows X^*$ , which satisfy the condition card(Tx) = 1, for all  $x \in D(T)$ . It can be easily observed that the concept of  $\theta$ -monotonicity generalizes several concepts of monotonicity known in literature.

If  $\theta(x,y) = 0$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$  we obtain the concept of *Minty-Browder monotonicity*, respectively the concept of *strict Minty-Browder monotonicity* (see [22, 23, 91, 92]), i.e.

$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge 0$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ ,

respectively,

 $\langle u - v, x - y \rangle > 0$  for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T), x \neq y$ .

If  $\theta(x,y) = r ||x - y||$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$ , where r > 0, we obtain the concept of strong monotonicity (see for instance [125]), i.e.

$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge r \|x - y\|^2$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ .

If  $\theta(x,y) = f(||x-y||)$  for all  $x, y \in D(T), x \neq y$  and  $\theta(x,x) = 0$  for all  $x \in D(T)$ , where  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$  is an increasing function, with  $\lim_{t \neq 0} f(t) = 0$  and  $\lim_{t \to \infty} f(t) = \infty$ , then the  $\theta$ -monotonicity becomes the uniform monotonicity (see for instance [70]), i.e.

$$\langle u-v, x-y\rangle \geq f(\|x-y\|)\|x-y\| \text{ for all } (x,u), (y,v)\in G(T), \, x\neq y.$$

If  $\theta(x, y) = -\epsilon$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$ , where  $\epsilon > 0$ , we obtain the concept of  $\epsilon$ -monotonicity (see [65, 96]), i.e.

$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge -\epsilon ||x - y||$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ .

If  $\theta(x, y) = -C ||x - y||^{\gamma - 1}$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$ , where C > 0 and  $\gamma > 1$ , we obtain the concept of  $\gamma$ -paramonotonicity (see [66]), i.e.

$$\langle u-v, x-y \rangle \ge -C \|x-y\|^{\gamma}$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ .

For  $\gamma = 2$ , hence for  $\theta(x, y) = -C ||x-y||$  for all  $x, y \in D(T)$ , where C > 0, the  $\gamma$ -paramonotonicity becomes the *C*-relaxed monotonicity (see for instance [125]), i.e.

$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge -C ||x - y||^2$$
 for all  $(x, u), (y, v) \in G(T)$ .

If  $\theta(x, y) = -\min\{\sigma(x), \sigma(y)\}$ , for all  $x, y \in D(T)$  and  $\theta(x, y) = 0$  otherwise, where  $\sigma : D(T) \longrightarrow (0, \infty)$  is a given function, we obtain the concept of *premonotonicity*, introduced in [62], i.e.

 $\langle u-v, x-y\rangle \geq -\min\{\sigma(x), \sigma(y)\}\|x-y\| \text{ for all } (x,u), (y,v)\in G(T).$ 

Recall that the operator  $T: X \rightrightarrows X^*$  is *locally bounded* in  $x \in X$ , if there exists a neighborhood  $U \subseteq X$  of x, such that the set T(U) is a bounded subset of  $X^*$ .

Let  $f: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function. We say that f is *lower semicontinuous* in  $x \in X$ , if for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists a neighborhood  $U \subseteq X$  of x, such that  $f(x) - \epsilon \leq f(y)$  for all  $y \in U$ . Equivalently, this can be expressed as  $\liminf_{y \to x} f(y) \geq f(x)$ . We say that f is lower semicontinuous on  $U \subseteq X$  if f is lower semicontinuous in every  $x \in U$ .

The next result provides, in a finite dimensional Hilbert space context, the local boundedness of a  $\theta$ -monotone operator in the interior of its domain. This is a major result, since the  $\theta$ -monotonicity property of the operators is a weaker condition than the Minty-Browder monotonicity, and still one of the fundamental property of the Minty-Browder monotone operators remains true.

**Theorem 2.1.1.** Let  $T : \mathbb{R}^n \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^n$  be a  $\theta$ -monotone operator. If the function  $\theta(\cdot, y)$  is lower semicontinuous on int(D(T)) for all  $y \in int(D(T))$ , then T is locally bounded in the interior of its domain D(T).

#### 2.1.2 Maximal $\theta$ -monotone operators

In this section the concept of maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator is considered. It is shown that a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator has convex and closed images and that, under some circumstances its graph is  $\|\cdot\| \times bdw^*$ -closed, where by  $bdw^*$  we denote weak\*-convergence for bounded nets. Finally, for a single-valued operator, we present some conditions that ensure its maximal  $\theta$ -monotonicity. This result is a generalization of a well-known result established for the classical Minty-Browder monotonicity. **Definition 2.1.2.** Let  $T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be a  $\theta$ -monotone operator. One says that T is maximal  $\theta$ -monotone, if for every operator  $T' : X \rightrightarrows X^*$ , which is  $\theta$ -monotone with  $G(T) \subseteq G(T')$ , one has T = T'.

The next result provides the convexity and closedness of the images of a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator.

**Theorem 2.1.2.** Let  $T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator. Then Tx is convex and closed for all  $x \in D(T)$ .

The  $\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|$  closedness of the graph of a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator holds under mild assumptions.

**Proposition 2.1.1.** Let  $T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator. If the function  $\theta(\cdot, y) : X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is lower semicontinuous on D(T) for every  $y \in D(T)$ , then G(T) is  $\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|$ -closed.

#### 2.1.3 Locally $\theta$ -monotone operators

In this section we introduce the local  $\theta$ -monotonicity concept of a multivalued operator. Further we give under some conditions involving the function  $\theta$ , a sufficient condition that ensures the  $\theta$ -monotonicity of an operator. We present next the concept of local  $\theta$ -monotonicity, respectively, of local central  $\theta$ -monotonicity for operators.

**Definition 2.1.3.** Let  $T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be an operator. One says that T is locally  $\theta$ -monotone, respectively, locally central  $\theta$ -monotone, if for all  $z \in D(T)$  there exists an open neighborhood  $U_z \subseteq X$  of z, such that

(2. 2) 
$$\langle u - v, x - y \rangle \ge \theta(x, y) \|x - y\|, \text{ for all } x, y \in U_z \cap D(T), u \in Tx, v \in Ty$$

respectively

(2.3) 
$$\langle u-v, x-z \rangle \ge \theta(x,z) ||x-z||, \text{ for all } x \in U_z \cap D(T), u \in Tx, v \in Tz.$$

The notion of strict local  $\theta$ -monotonicity, respectively, the notion of strict local central  $\theta$ -monotonicity is obtained if in (2.2), respectively in (2.3) we have equality only for x = y, respectively, for x = z.

**Definition 2.1.4.** Let  $D \subseteq X$  be convex. One says that the function  $\theta$  has the (m) property on D, if

$$\theta(x,z) + \theta(z,y) \ge \theta(x,y)$$

for all  $z \in (x, y), x, y \in D, x \neq y$ .

The next result provides a sufficient condition for the  $\theta$ -monotonicity of an operator.

**Theorem 2.1.3.** Let  $T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be a locally central  $\theta$ -monotone operator, having a convex domain D(T). If the function  $\theta$  has the (m) property on D(T), then T is  $\theta$ -monotone.

#### 2.2 $\theta$ -convex functions

In this section we introduce the concept of  $\theta$ -convexity for real valued functions in Hilbert spaces. This concept generalizes some convexity notions known in literature, such as strong convexity and  $\epsilon$ -convexity. We will show that this notion is strongly connected with the notion of  $\theta$ -monotonicity, namely that a differentiable  $\theta$ -convex function has as differential a  $2\theta$ -monotone operator with the same  $\theta$ . Further, we will give an analytical condition upon  $\theta$  that provides the  $\theta$ -convexity of a differentiable real valued function. Everywhere in the sequel D denotes an open and convex subset of a real Hilbert space H, while the Frèchet differential of a function  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  at  $x \in D$  will be identified with  $\nabla f(x)$ .

**Definition 2.2.1.** Let  $\theta: D \times D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a given function with the property that  $\theta(x, y) = \theta(y, x)$  for all  $x, y \in D$ . One says that the function  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is  $\theta$ -convex, if for all  $x, y \in D$  and all  $z \in (x, y)$  we have

(2. 4) 
$$\frac{f(z) - f(x)}{\|z - x\|} + \frac{f(z) - f(y)}{\|z - y\|} + \theta(x, z) + \theta(z, y) \le 0.$$

It can be easily observed that (2.4) is equivalent to  $f((1-t)x+ty) \leq (1-t)f(x)+tf(y)-t(1-t)(\theta(x,(1-t)x+ty)+\theta((1-t)x+ty,y))||x-y||$ , for all  $t \in [0,1]$  and all  $x, y \in D$ . Obviously, if  $\theta(x,y) = \frac{c}{2}||x-y||$  for all  $x, y \in D$  where  $c \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$ , we obtain the concept of strong convexity on D, while if  $\theta(x,y) = 0$  for all  $x, y \in D$ , we obtain the concept of "classical" convexity on D.

We say that the function  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is locally  $\theta$ -convex, if for every  $x_0 \in D$  there exists an open and convex neighborhood  $U_{x_0} \subseteq D$  of  $x_0$  such that the restriction of f on  $U_{x_0}, f|_{U_{x_0}}$  is  $\theta$ -convex.

The next result connects the  $\theta$ -convexity property of a differentiable function with the  $2\theta$ -monotonicity property of its differential.

**Proposition 2.2.1.** If  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a differentiable  $\theta$ -convex function, where  $\theta(x, \cdot): D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is radially continuous and  $\theta(x, x) = 0$  for all  $x \in D$ , then  $\nabla f$  is  $2\theta$ -monotone, with the same  $\theta$ . If D = X and  $\nabla f$  is hemicontinuous, then  $\nabla f$  is maximal  $2\theta$ -monotone.

Next we will give a condition involving the function  $\theta$ , such that the  $2\theta$ -monotonicity of the differential of a differentiable function provides the  $\theta$ -convexity property of that function.

**Theorem 2.2.1.** If  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a continuously differentiable function, the function  $s: [0,1] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ ,  $s(t) = \theta(x, x + t(y - x))$  is integrable with

$$\int_0^1 s(t)dt \ge \frac{\theta(x,y)}{2}$$

for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$ , and  $\nabla f$  is  $2\theta$ -monotone, then f is  $\theta$ -convex.

**Theorem 2.2.2.** If  $f: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a differentiable function, and the function  $\theta$  has the property that  $2\theta(u, v) \ge \theta(x, z) + \theta(z, y)$  for all  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \ne y, z \in (x, y)$ ,  $u \in (x, z)$ ,  $v \in (z, y)$ , and  $\nabla f$  is  $2\theta$ -monotone, then f is  $\theta$ -convex.

#### 2.3 Applications to surjectivity results

In what follows we will provide some surjectivity results involving  $\theta$ -monotone operators in the case when  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Recall that an operator having  $\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|$  closed graph in  $X \times X^*$  is called *outer semi-continuous*.

Obviously if the operator T is  $\theta$ -monotone, then  $T + \lambda I$  is  $\theta$ -monotone (with the same  $\theta$ ), for all  $\lambda > 0$ , where I denotes the identity operator. Even more,  $T + \lambda I$  is  $\theta'$  monotone, with  $\theta'(x, y) = \theta(x, y) + \lambda ||x - y||$ .

**Theorem 2.3.1.** If the operator  $T : \mathbb{R}^n \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^n$  is  $\theta$ -monotone, convex valued, outer semicontinuous and  $D(T) = \mathbb{R}^n$ , as well as the function  $\theta(\cdot, y) : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is lower semicontinuous for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and the function  $\theta(\cdot, 0) : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is bounded below, then  $T + \lambda I$  is surjective for all  $\lambda > 0$ .

The next Minty's type theorem ensures the surjectivity of  $T + \lambda I$ , when T is maximal  $\theta$ -monotone.

**Theorem 2.3.2.** Let  $T : \mathbb{R}^n \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^n$  be a maximal  $\theta$ -monotone operator with  $D(T) = \mathbb{R}^n$ . If  $\theta(\cdot, y) : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is lower semicontinuous for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and the function  $\theta(\cdot, 0) : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is bounded below, then the operator  $T + \lambda I$  is surjective for all  $\lambda > 0$ .

#### 2.4 Final remarks and comments

Since the concepts of  $\theta$ -monotonicity and  $\theta$ -convexity contain many monotonicity, respectively, convexity concepts as particular cases, the possibilities of further investigations are considerable.

For instance, it is natural to introduce a new subdifferential concept, the so-called  $\theta$ -subdifferential. Let X be a real Banach space and  $f: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$  a proper function. One says that  $x^* \in X^*$  is a  $\theta$ -subgradient of f in  $x \in dom(f) = \{x \in X : f(x) < \infty\}$ , if  $\langle x^*, y - x \rangle \leq f(y) - f(x) - \theta(x, y) ||x - y||, (\forall) y \in X$ . The set

$$\partial_{\theta} f(x) = \{ x^* \in X^* : \langle x^*, y - x \rangle \le f(y) - f(x) - \theta(x, y) \| x - y \|, \, (\forall) y \in X \}$$

is called the  $\theta$ -subdifferential of f at  $x \in dom(f)$ .

The investigation of generical differentiability of  $\theta$ -convex functions in Asplund spaces is also a good starting point for further researches, since this result was already established for approximative convex and  $\gamma$ -paraconvex functions (see [97, 116]).

It is worthwhile to investigate the applicability of these concepts in the field of optimization or variational inequalities.

## Chapter 3

## Variational inequalities

#### 3.1 Generalized variational inequalities

In what follows, unless is otherwise specified, we assume that X be a real Banach space and  $X^*$  be the topological dual of X. We denote by  $\langle x^*, x \rangle$  the value of the linear and continuous functional  $x^* \in X^*$  in  $x \in X$ . Consider the set  $K \subseteq X$  and let  $A : K \longrightarrow X^*$  and  $a : K \longrightarrow X$  be given operators. The general variational inequalities considered, are some generalizations of the classic variational inequalities of Stampacchia type and of Minty type.

Recall that Stampacchia variational inequality,  $VI_S(A, K)$ , consists in finding an element  $x \in K$ , such that  $\langle A(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0$  for all  $y \in K$ , where the set K is convex and closed (see, for instance, [43,74,87]).

The problem that we shall study in what follows is the so called general variational inequality of Stampacchia type,  $VI_S(A, a, K)$ , which consists in finding an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 1) 
$$\langle A(x), a(y) - a(x) \rangle \ge 0$$
, for all  $y \in K$ ,

Obviously, when  $a \equiv id_K$ , then (3.1) reduces to Stampacchia variational inequality  $VI_S(A, K)$ .

Interchanging the role of A and a in  $VI_S(A, a, K)$ , we obtain the inverted general variational inequality problem of Stampacchia type,  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$ , which consist of finding an element  $x \in K$ such that

(3. 2) 
$$\langle A(y) - A(x), a(x) \rangle \ge 0$$
, for all  $y \in K$ .

Recall that Minty variational inequality,  $VI_M(A, K)$ , consists in finding an element  $x \in K$ , such that  $\langle A(y), y - x \rangle \ge 0$  for all  $y \in K$ , where the set K is convex and closed (see, for instance, [43,63,87]).

The general variational inequality of Minty type,  $VI_M(A, a, K)$ , consists in finding an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 3) 
$$\langle A(y), a(y) - a(x) \rangle \ge 0$$
, for all  $y \in K$ 

Obviously, when  $a \equiv id_K$ , then (3.3) reduces to Minty variational inequality  $VI_M(A, K)$ .

Interchanging the role of A and a in  $VI_M(A, a, K)$ , we obtain the inverted general variational inequality problem of Minty type,  $VI_{iM}(A, a, K)$ , which consist of finding an element  $x \in K$  such that

(3. 4) 
$$\langle A(y) - A(x), a(y) \rangle \ge 0$$
, for all  $y \in K$ .

Let  $K \subseteq X$  be nonempty and convex, and let  $T : K \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $f : K \longrightarrow X$  be given operators. Consider the following problem. Find an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 5) 
$$(\forall)y \in K (\exists)u \in T(x) : \langle u, f(y) - f(x) \rangle \ge 0.$$

Obviously, when T is single valued, then (3.5) reduces to the general variational inequality of Stampacchia type,  $VI_S(T, f, K)$ . Let us denote by  $S_w(T, f, K)$  the set of solutions of (3.5).

Moreover, consider the following problem. Find an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 6) 
$$(\exists)u \in T(x) : (\forall)y \in K \langle u, f(y) - f(x) \rangle \ge 0.$$

It is easy to observe, that also in this case, if T is single valued, then (3.6) reduces to the general variational inequality of Stampacchia type,  $VI_S(T, f, K)$ . Let us denote by S(T, f, K) the set of solutions of (3.6).

Further, consider the following problem. Find an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 7) 
$$(\forall) y \in K (\forall) v \in T(y) : \langle v, f(y) - f(x) \rangle \ge 0$$

It can be easily observed, that if T is single valued, then (3.7) reduces to the general variational inequality of Minty type,  $VI_M(T, f, K)$ . Let us denote by M(T, f, K) the set of solutions of (3.7).

#### 3.2 Operators of Type ql

# 3.2.1 Some characterizations of monotonicity of real valued functions of one real variable

In this section we present some characterizations of monotonicity of real valued functions of one real variable, and generalizing these characteristics we introduce several notions of monotonicity of operators already known in literature. Relied on the one of above mentioned characteristic, in the next section, we introduce the notion of operator of type ql.

**Proposition 3.2.1.** Let  $f : I \subseteq \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function. The function f is monotone increasing (decreasing), if and only if, for every  $a, b \in I$ ,  $a \leq b$ , and every  $z \in [a, b] \cap I$  one has  $f(z) \in [f(a), f(b)]$ , (respectively  $f(z) \in [f(b), f(a)]$ ).

#### 3.2.2 Some properties of operators of type ql

In this section we introduce the notion of operator of type ql. We show that this concept is a generalization of the notion of monotonicity of real valued functions of one real variable. We show that this notion may be viewed as well, as a generalization of the concept of linear operator, even more, when an operator takes its values in  $\mathbb{R}$  then is of type ql if and only if is quasilinear. We obtain some results that will be used in the next section for establishing the existence of the solutions of some general variational inequalities.

Relying on Proposition 3.2.1 we introduce the concept of the operator of type ql.

**Definition 3.2.1.** Let X and Y be two real linear spaces. One says that the operator  $A : D \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  is of type ql, if for every  $x, y \in D$  and every  $z \in [x, y] \cap D$  one has  $A(z) \in [A(x), A(y)]$ . One says that the operator  $A : D \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  is of type strict ql, if for every  $x, y \in D$ ,  $x \neq y$  and every  $z \in (x, y) \cap D$  one has  $A(z) \in (A(x), A(y))$ . We have the following result, which proof is straightforward.

**Proposition 3.2.2.** Let  $f : I \subseteq \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function. Then f is of type ql, if and only if f is monotone (increasing or decreasing).

The next result is obvious.

**Proposition 3.2.3.** Let X and Y be two real linear spaces and let  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear operator. Then A is of type ql.

**Definition 3.2.2.** Let X be a real vector space, Y a topological space and let  $A : D \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$ be an operator. One says that A is continuous on line segments at  $x \in D$ , if for every sequence  $\{t_n\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  of real numbers convergent to 0 and every  $y \in D$  with  $x + t_n y \in D$  we have  $A(x+t_n y) \longrightarrow$  $A(x), n \longrightarrow \infty$ . A is said continuous on line segments in D if it has this continuity property in every  $x \in D$ .

**Lemma 3.2.1.** Let X be a real linear space and let Y be a real linear space that is also a metric space, let  $D \subseteq X$  convex, and  $A : D \longrightarrow Y$  an operator continuous on line segments and of type ql. Then for every  $x, y \in D$  one has A([x, y]) = [A(x), A(y)].

The next theorem ensures that the image of an operator of type ql is convex.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let X be a real linear space and let Y be a real linear space that is also a metric space and let  $A : D \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  be an operator, continuous on line segments and of type ql, with its domain D convex. Then A(D) is convex.

In what follows we show that the class of real valued operators of type ql coincides with the class of quasilinear functions.

**Definition 3.2.3.** Let X be a real linear space and let  $D \subseteq X$  convex. A function  $f : D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is called quasiconcave (see [4]), if -f is quasiconvex, i.e.

 $f((1-t)x + ty) \ge \min\{f(x), f(y)\}, \text{ for every } x, y \in D, \text{ and } t \in [0, 1].$ 

A function that is quasiconvex and quasiconcave at the same time is called quasilinear.

**Proposition 3.2.4.** Let X be a real linear space, let  $D \subseteq X$  convex and let  $f : D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a function. Then f is of type ql if and only if f is quasilinear.

Next we give a method to obtain new operators of type ql from existing ones.

**Proposition 3.2.5.** Let X, Y, Z be real linear spaces,  $D \subseteq X$ , and let  $A : D \longrightarrow Y$ ,  $B : A(D) \longrightarrow Z$  be two operator of type ql. Then  $B \circ A : D \longrightarrow Z$  is of type ql.

At this point is time to give some examples of operators of type ql, that are nontrivial in the sense that are neither linear operators nor quasilinear functions. The first one provides an operator of type ql in finite dimension.

**Example 3.2.1.** Let us consider the operator  $A: [-1,1] \times [-1,1] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^3$ ,

$$A(x,y) = \left(\frac{2x+2y}{(x+y-1)^2+3}, \frac{(x+y)^2+4}{(x+y-1)^2+3}, \frac{(x+y-2)^2}{(x+y-1)^2+3}\right)$$

Then A is a continuous operator of type ql.

The next example provides an operator of type ql in a general infinite dimensional setting.

**Example 3.2.2.** Let  $D = \{f \in C_{[a,b]} | f(a) \ge 0\} \subseteq C_{[a,b]}$  and consider the operator  $S : D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $S(f)(x) = (f(a))^2 x$ . Then S is a nonlinear operator of type ql.

**Definition 3.2.4.** Let X be a real linear space and let  $D \subseteq X$ . The convex hull of the set D is defined as the set

$$co(D) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i x_i : x_i \in D, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1, \lambda_i \ge 0, \text{ for all } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}, n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

We have the following result:

**Theorem 3.2.2.** Let X and Y be two real linear spaces, let  $D \subseteq X$  be convex and let  $A : D \longrightarrow Y$  be an operator of type ql. Then for every finite number of elements  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n \in D$  and for every  $x \in co\{x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n\}$  we have  $A(x) \in co\{A(x_1), A(x_2), \ldots, A(x_n)\}$ .

### 3.3 Existence of the Solutions of Some Generalized Variational Inequalities

#### 3.3.1 Stampacchia type variational inequalities

In this section will be presented some existence results for the general variational inequality of Stampacchia type, that was introduced in Section 4.2. Our results are relying on the notion of KKM application and a celebrated result due to Ky Fan. By examples is shown, that the condition that one of the operators involved in these variational inequalities is of type ql is essential. As consequences of the presented results, some well known classical results are obtained.

Recall that an operator  $T: X \longrightarrow X^*$  is called weak to  $\|\cdot\|$ -sequentially continuous at  $x \in X$ , if for every sequence  $x_n$  that converge weakly to x we have that  $T(x_n) \longrightarrow T(x)$  in the topology of the norm of  $X^*$ . If the range of T is a subset of X, we say that T is weak to weak-sequentially continuous at  $x \in X$ , if for every sequence  $x_n$  that converge weakly to x we have that  $T(x_n)$ converge weakly to T(x). One of the main results of this section is the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.1.** If A is weak to  $\|\cdot\|$ -sequentially continuous, a is of type ql and weak to weaksequentially continuous and K is weakly compact and convex, then  $VI_S(A, a, K)$  admits solutions.

As an immediate consequence we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 3.3.1.** If A is weak to  $\|\cdot\|$ -sequentially continuous and K is weakly compact and convex, then Stampacchia variational inequality,  $VI_S(A, K)$ , admits solutions.

In finite dimension we obtain the following result, which is a generalization of Lemma 3.1 from [131].

**Corollary 3.3.2.** If  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ , A is continuous, a is of type ql and continuous, and K is compact and convex, then  $VI_S(A, a, K)$  admits solutions.

The following classic result, (see [57, 74]), is well known.

**Corollary 3.3.3.** If  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ , A is continuous, and K is compact and convex, then Stampacchia variational inequality,  $VI_S(A, K)$ , admits solutions.

The next result extends Theorem 3.2 from [131].

**Theorem 3.3.2.** Let X be a Banach space and let  $K \subseteq X$  be weakly compact and convex. Suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (a) a of type ql,
- (b) if  $(x_n) \subseteq K$  converge weakly to  $x \in K$  then  $\liminf_{n \to \infty} \langle Ax_n, a(y) \rangle \leq \langle A(x), a(y) \rangle$ , for all  $y \in K$ ,
- (c) the function  $K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, x \longrightarrow \langle A(x), a(x) \rangle$  is sequentially weakly lower semicontinuous.

Then,  $VI_S(A, a, K)$  admits solutions.

The next example shows, that without the assumption that the operator a being of type ql, the conclusion of Theorem 3.3.1 fails even in finite dimension.

**Example 3.3.1.** Let us consider the operator  $A : K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$ , A(x, y) = (1, -x), where  $K = [-1, 1] \times [-1, 1] \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$  and let  $a : K \longrightarrow K$ ,  $a(x, y) = (x^2y, xy)$ . Then obviously A and a are continuous, K is compact and convex but the general variational inequality problem of Stampacchia type has no solutions.

#### 3.3.2 Minty type variational inequalities

In this section, some generalizations of Minty's classical theorem concerning on the coincidence of the solutions of Stampacchia variational inequality, respectively of Minty variational inequality are obtained.

Recall that Minty's theorem claims that if the operator  $A : K \longrightarrow X^*$  is hemicontinuous and monotone in Minty-Browder sense then the solutions of the classical Stampacchia variational inequality  $VI_S(A, K)$  and the solutions of the classical Minty variational inequality  $VI_M(A, K)$ coincide (see [43,87]). Actually we need to assume less.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** (Minty) Let  $A : K \longrightarrow X^*$  be an operator.

- i) If A is hemicontinuous on K, and K is convex, then every  $x \in K$  which solves  $VI_M(A, K)$  is also a solution of  $VI_S(A, K)$ .
- ii) If, instead, A is monotone on the convex set K, then every  $x \in K$  which solves  $VI_S(A, K)$  is also a solution of  $VI_M(A, K)$

Recall the following definitions (see [101]):

**Definition 3.3.1.** Let X be a real Banach space, let  $X^*$  be its dual, and let  $A : D \subseteq X \longrightarrow X^*$ and  $a : D \longrightarrow X$  be given operators. One says that A is monotone relative to a, if for all  $x, y \in D$ , we have  $\langle A(x) - A(y), a(x) - a(y) \rangle \ge 0$ .

In what follows we obtain some results for the problems  $VI_S(A, a, K)$  and  $VI_M(A, a, K)$ , that may be viewed as generalizations of Minty's theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.4.** Let  $K \subseteq X$  be a convex set, and let  $A : K \longrightarrow X^*$  and  $a : K \longrightarrow X$  be given operators. Then, the following statements hold.

- i) If A is monotone relative to a on K, then every  $x \in K$  which solves  $VI_S(A, a, K)$  is also a solution of  $VI_M(A, a, K)$ .
- ii) If A is hemicontinuous and a is of type strict ql, then every  $x \in K$  which solves  $VI_M(A, a, K)$  is also a solution of  $VI_S(A, a, K)$ .

The condition that the operator a is of type strict ql in the hypothesis of Theorem 3.3.4 "ii)" is essential. The author wishes to thank professor C. Zălinescu, for pointing out this fact.

**Example 3.3.2.** Let  $K = [-1, 1], A, a : K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, A(x) = x, a(x) = \begin{cases} -1, \text{ if } x \in [-1, 0), \\ 1, \text{ if } x \in [0, 1]. \end{cases}$  Then

K is convex, A is continuous, a is of type ql, but is not of type strict ql. We show that  $x_0 = \frac{1}{2}$  is a solution of  $VI_M(A, a, K)$  but is not solution of  $VI_S(A, a, K)$ .

Proof. Indeed  $A(y) \cdot (a(y) - a(x_0)) = y(a(y) - 1) = \begin{cases} -2y, \text{ if } y \in [-1,0), \\ 0, \text{ if } y \in [0,1]. \end{cases}$  Hence,  $A(y) \cdot (a(y) - a(x_0)) \ge 0$  for all  $y \in [-1,1]$ , consequently  $x_0$  is a solution of  $VI_M(A, a, K)$ .

On the other hand, for  $y = -\frac{1}{2}$ , we have  $A(x_0)(a(y) - a(x_0)) = -1 < 0$ , consequently  $x_0$  is not a solution of  $VI_S(A, a, K)$ .

#### 3.3.3 The inverted problems

In what follows we conclude similar result for the inverted problems  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$  and  $VI_{iM}(A, a, K)$ .

The following existence result for the problem  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$  can be proved in a similar way to the proof of Theorem 3.3.1.

**Theorem 3.3.5.** If A is weak to norm and a is weak to weak continuous, A is of type ql and K is weakly compact, then the inverted general variational inequality problem of Stampacchia type  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$  admits solutions.

We have the following Minty type theorem.

- **Theorem 3.3.6.** i) Let  $A: K \longrightarrow X^*$  be monotone relative to a. If  $x \in K$  is a solution of the inverted general variational inequality problem of Stampacchia type  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$ , then x is a solution of the inverted general variational inequality problem of Minty type  $VI_{iM}(A, a, K)$ .
  - ii) Let  $A: K \longrightarrow X^*$  be of type strict ql and let a be continuous on line segments. If  $x \in K$  is a solution of the inverted general variational inequality problem of Minty type  $VI_{iM}(A, a, K)$ , then x is a solution of the inverted general variational inequality problem of Stampacchia type  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$ .

#### 3.3.4 Multivalued variational inequalities

In this section, unless is otherwise specified, we assume that X be a real Banach space and  $X^*$  be the topological dual of X. Let  $K \subseteq X$  be convex, and let  $T: K \Rightarrow X^*$  and  $f: K \longrightarrow X$  be given operators. First, we shall study the problem of finding an element  $x \in K$ , such that

(3. 8) 
$$\sup_{u \in T(x)} \langle u, f(y) - f(x) \rangle \ge 0, \text{ for all } y \in K.$$

In order to continue our analysis we need the following notion. Let  $X_1, X_2$  be Hausdorff topological spaces and let  $T : X_1 \rightrightarrows X_2$  be a multivalued operator with nonempty values. T is said to be upper semicontinuous if, for every  $x_0 \in X_1$  and for every open set N containing  $T(x_0)$ , there exists a neighborhood M of  $x_0$  such that  $T(M) \subseteq N$ .

**Theorem 3.3.7.** Let  $K \subseteq X$  be nonempty, weakly compact and convex, and let  $f : K \longrightarrow K$  be of type ql and weak to norm-sequentially continuous. Let  $T : K \rightrightarrows X^*$  weak to weak<sup>\*</sup> upper semicontinuous on K, such that T(x) is nonempty, weak<sup>\*</sup> compact for every  $x \in K$ . Then,  $S_w(T, f, K) \neq \emptyset$ . If in addition T is f-pseudomonotone, then  $M(T, f, K) \neq \emptyset$ .

In what follows, we present the main result of this section.

**Theorem 3.3.8.** Let  $K \subseteq X$  be nonempty, weakly compact and convex, and let  $f : K \longrightarrow K$  be of type ql and weak to norm continuous. Let  $T : K \rightrightarrows X^*$  weak to weak<sup>\*</sup> upper semicontinuous on K, such that T(x) is nonempty, weak<sup>\*</sup> compact and convex for every  $x \in K$ . Then,  $S(T, f, K) \neq \emptyset$ .

#### 3.4 Applications to fixed point theorems

In this section we prove Brouwer's fixed point theorem, respectively Kakutani fixed point theorem. Recall, that Brouwer's fixed point theorem states, that if  $F : K \longrightarrow K$  is a continuous function, where  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  is a compact and convex, then F admits a fixed point, that is there exists  $x \in K$ such that F(x) = x, (see, for instance, [61]).

Now, according to Theorem 3.3.5, if A is weak to norm sequentially continuous and is of type ql, a is weak to weak sequentially continuous, and K is weakly compact and convex, then the inverted general variational inequality of Stampacchia type  $VI_{iS}(A, a, K)$  admits solutions. Let  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ compact and convex,  $A: K \longrightarrow K$ ,  $A \equiv id_K$  and  $a: K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$ , a(x) = x - F(x). Obviously A and a are continuous. Hence, the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.5 are satisfied, consequently, there exists  $x_0 \in K$  such that

$$\langle y - x_0, x_0 - F(x_0) \rangle \ge 0, (\forall) y \in K.$$

Since  $Im(F) \subseteq K$ , for  $y = F(x_0) \in K$  we obtain  $\langle F(x_0) - x_0, x_0 - F(x_0) \rangle \ge 0$ . Hence,  $-\|F(x_0) - x_0\|^2 \ge 0$ , so we have  $F(x_0) = x_0$ .

In what follows we give a similar proof for Kakutani's fixed point theorem. According to Theorem 3.3.8, in a Banach space context X, if  $K \subseteq X$  be nonempty, weakly compact and convex, and  $f: K \longrightarrow K$  is of type ql and weak to norm continuous, respectively  $T: K \rightrightarrows X^*$  is weak to weak\* upper semicontinuous on K, such that T(x) is nonempty, weak\* compact and convex for every  $x \in K$ , then,  $S(T, f, K) \neq \emptyset$ , i.e. there exists  $x \in K$ ,  $u \in T(x)$  such that

$$\langle u, f(y) - f(x) \rangle \ge 0, \ (\forall) y \in K.$$

Recall, that Kakutani's fixed point theorem states, that if  $F: K \rightrightarrows K$  is a set valued map with closed graph and the property that F(x) is non-empty and convex for all  $x \in K$ , where  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is a compact and convex, then F has a fixed point, i.e. there exists  $x \in K$  such that  $x \in F(x)$ . However this statement is equivalent to the following. Let K be a non-empty, compact and convex subset of some Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let  $F: K \rightrightarrows K$  be an upper semicontinuous set-valued map on K with the property that F(x) is non-empty, closed, and convex for all  $x \in K$ . Then F has a fixed point. Let  $T : K \rightrightarrows K$ ,  $T(x) = id_K(x) - F(x)$ , which is obviously nonempty, convex and closed valued, and since  $T(x) \subseteq K - K$ , we have T(x) bounded for every  $x \in K$ . Hence T(x) is compact for all  $x \in K$ . We show that T is also upper semicontinuous. Indeed, according to Remark ??, it is enough to show, that for every convergent sequence  $(x_n) \subseteq K$ ,  $x_n \longrightarrow x^0 \in K$  and every sequence  $z_n \in T(x_n)$ , n = 1, 2, ..., there exists  $z^0 \in T(x^0)$ , and a subsequence  $(z_{n_k}) \subseteq (z_n)$  such that  $z_{n_k} \longrightarrow z^0$ ,  $k \longrightarrow \infty$ .

Let  $(x_n) \subseteq K$ ,  $x_n \longrightarrow x^0 \in K$  and let  $z_n \in T(x_n)$ ,  $n \ge 1$ . Then  $z_n = x_n - y_n$ , where  $y_n \in F(x_n)$ for all n = 1, 2, ... Since F is compact valued and upper semicontinuous, according to Remark ?? there exists  $y^0 \in F(x^0)$ , and a subsequence  $(y_{n_k}) \subseteq (y_n)$  such that  $y_{n_k} \longrightarrow y^0$ ,  $k \longrightarrow \infty$ . But then  $z_{n_k} \longrightarrow x^0 - y^0 \in T(x^0)$ ,  $k \longrightarrow \infty$ .

Consider further  $f : K \longrightarrow K$ ,  $f \equiv id_K$ , which is obviously is of type ql and continuous, therefore K, T and f satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.8. Hence, according to Theorem 3.3.8 there exists  $x_0 \in K$ ,  $u \in T(x_0)$  such that

$$\langle u, y - x_0 \rangle \ge 0, \ (\forall) y \in K.$$

But then  $u = x_0 - v_0$ , for some  $v_0 \in F(x_0) \subseteq K$ , hence for  $y = v_0$  we obtain  $\langle x_0 - v_0, v_0 - x_0 \rangle \ge 0$ . Thus  $x_0 = v_0 \in F(x_0)$ .

## Chapter 4

## The sum problems in Banach spaces

#### 4.1 Preliminaries

#### 4.1.1 Interiority notions and Fenchel conjugate

Consider X a separated locally convex space and  $X^*$  its topological dual space. We denote by  $w(X, X^*)$   $(w(X^*, X))$  the weak topology on X induced by  $X^*$  (the weak\* topology on  $X^*$  induced by X). When there is no danger of confusion, the notation w  $(w^*)$  is used. For a non-empty set  $D \subseteq X$ , we denote by co(D), cone(D), cone(c), aff(D), lin(D), int(D), cl(D), its *convex hull, conic hull, convex conic hull, affine hull, linear hull, interior, relative interior,* and *closure,* respectively. We have  $cone(D) = \bigcup_{t\geq 0} tD$  and if  $0 \in D$  then obviously  $cone(D) = \bigcup_{t\geq 0} tD$ .

The algebraic interior (the core) of D is the set (see [60, 113, 133])

$$\operatorname{core}(D) = \{ u \in X \mid \forall x \in X, \exists \delta > 0 \text{ such that } \forall \lambda \in [0, \delta] : u + \lambda x \in D \},\$$

while its relative algebraic interior (sometimes called also intrinsic core) is the set (see [60, 133])

$$\operatorname{icr}(D) = \{ u \in X | \ \forall x \in \operatorname{aff}(D - D), \ \exists \delta > 0 \text{ such that } \forall \lambda \in [0, \delta] : u + \lambda x \in D \}.$$

We consider also the strong quasi-relative interior (sometimes called intrinsic relative algebraic interior) of D (see [13, 64, 133, 134]), denoted by sqri(D),

$$\operatorname{sqri}(D) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{icr}(D), & \text{if aff}(D) \text{ is a closed set,} \\ \emptyset, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let us consider non-empty sets  $V \subseteq X$ . By U + V we denote the usual *Minkowski sum* of the sets  $U, V \subseteq X$ , that is  $U + V = \{u + v : u \in U, v \in V\}$ , while for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\alpha U = \{\alpha x : x \in U\}$ . By convention we take  $U + \emptyset = \emptyset + U = \emptyset + \emptyset = \alpha \emptyset = \emptyset$ .

We say that the function  $f: X \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is convex if

$$\forall x, y \in X, \ \forall t \in [0, 1] \ : f(tx + (1 - t)y) \le tf(x) + (1 - t)f(y),$$

with the conventions  $(+\infty) + (-\infty) = +\infty$ ,  $0 \cdot (+\infty) = +\infty$  and  $0 \cdot (-\infty) = 0$  (see [133]). We consider dom  $f = \{x \in X : f(x) < +\infty\}$  the *domain* of f and epi  $f = \{(x, r) \in X \times \mathbb{R} : f(x) \le r\}$ its *epigraph*. We call f proper if dom  $f \neq \emptyset$  and  $f(x) > -\infty$  for all  $x \in X$ . By cl f we denote the *lower semicontinuous hull* of f, namely the function whose epigraph is the closure of epi f in  $X \times \mathbb{R}$ , that is epi(cl f) = cl(epi f). We consider also co f, the *convex hull* of f, which is the greatest convex function majorized by f.

The *Fenchel-Moreau conjugate* of f is the function  $f^*: X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  defined by

$$f^*(x^*) = \sup_{x \in X} \{ \langle x^*, x \rangle - f(x) \} \ \forall x^* \in X^*.$$

We mention here some important properties of conjugate functions. We have the so-called *Young-Fenchel inequality* 

$$f^*(x^*) + f(x) \ge \langle x^*, x \rangle \ \forall x \in X \ \forall x^* \in X^*.$$

The *Fenchel-Moreau Theorem* states that if f is proper, then f is convex and lower semicontinuous if and only if  $f^{**} = f$  (see [133]). Moreover, if f is convex and  $(\operatorname{cl} f)(x) > -\infty$  for all  $x \in X$ , then  $f^{**} = \operatorname{cl} f$  (see [133, Theorem 2.3.4]).

Having  $f, g: X \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  two functions we consider their *infimal convolution*, namely the function denoted by  $f \Box g: X \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $f \Box g(x) = \inf_{u \in X} \{f(u) + g(x - u)\}$  for all  $x \in X$ . We say that the infimal convolution is *exact at*  $x \in X$  if the infimum in its definition is attained. Moreover,  $f \Box g$  is said to be *exact* if it is exact at every  $x \in X$ . We refer to [95] for more properties of the infimal convolution operation.

Let us also note that everywhere within this chapter we write min (max) instead of inf (sup) when the infimum (supremum) is attained.

Consider Y another separated locally convex space. For a function  $h: X \longrightarrow Y$  we denote by  $Im(h) = \{h(u) : u \in U\}$  the *image* of the set  $U \subseteq X$  through h, while for  $D \subseteq Y$  we use the notation  $h^{-1}(D) = \{x \in X : h(x) \in D\}$ . Given a continuous linear mapping  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$ , its adjoint operator,  $A^*: Y^* \longrightarrow X^*$  is defined by  $\langle A^*y^*, x \rangle = \langle y^*, Ax \rangle$  for all  $y^* \in Y^*$  and  $x \in X$ .

#### 4.1.2 Maximal monotone operators and representative functions

Consider further X a nontrivial Banach space,  $X^*$  its topological dual space and  $X^{**}$  its bidual space. A set-valued operator  $S: X \Rightarrow X^*$  is said to be *monotone* if

$$\langle y^* - x^*, y - x \rangle \ge 0$$
, whenever  $y^* \in S(y)$  and  $x^* \in S(x)$ .

The monotone operator S is called *maximal monotone* if its graph

$$G(S) = \{(x, x^*) : x^* \in S(x)\} \subseteq X \times X^*$$

is not properly contained in the graph of any other monotone operator  $S' : X \rightrightarrows X^*$ . For S we consider also its *domain*  $D(S) = \{x \in X : S(x) \neq \emptyset\} = \operatorname{pr}_X(G(S))$  and its *range*  $R(S) = \bigcup_{x \in X} S(x) = \operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(G(S))$ .

**Definition 4.1.1.** For  $S: X \rightrightarrows X^*$  a monotone operator, we call representative function of S a convex and lower semicontinuous function  $h_S: X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  (in the strong topology of  $X \times X^*$ ) fulfilling

$$h_S \ge c \text{ and } G(S) \subseteq \{(x, x^*) \in X \times X^* : h_S(x, x^*) = \langle x^*, x \rangle\}$$

**Theorem 4.1.1.** Let X be a nonzero Banach space and  $f : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  a proper, convex and lower semicontinuous function such that  $f \ge c$  and  $f^*(x^*, x^{**}) \ge \langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle$  for all  $(x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}$ . Then the operator whose graph is the set  $\{(x, x^*) \in X \times X^* : f(x, x^*) = \langle x^*, x \rangle\}$  is maximal monotone and it holds  $\{(x, x^*) \in X \times X^* : f(x, x^*) = \langle x^*, x \rangle\} = \{(x, x^*) \in X \times X^* : f^*(x^*, x) = \langle x^*, x \rangle\}$ . The following particular class of maximal monotone operators has been recently introduced in [88], being also studied in [129].

**Definition 4.1.2.** An operator  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  is said to be strongly-representable whenever there exists a proper, convex and strong lower semicontinuous function  $h : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  such that

$$h \geq c, h^*(x^*, x^{**}) \geq \langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle \forall (x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}$$

and

$$G(S) = \{(x, x^*) \in X \times X^* : h(x, x^*) = \langle x^*, x \rangle\}.$$

In this case h is called a strong-representative of S.

**Definition 4.1.3.** (see [51]) Gossez's monotone closure of a maximal monotone operator  $S : X \Rightarrow X^*$  is  $\overline{S} : X^{**} \Rightarrow X^*$ ,

$$G(\overline{S}) = \{(x^{**}, x^*) \in X^{**} \times X^* : \langle x^* - y^*, x^{**} - y \rangle \ge 0, \, (\forall)(y, y^*) \in G(S) \}$$

A maximal monotone operator  $S: X \rightrightarrows X^*$  is of Gossez type (D) if for any  $(x^{**}, x^*) \in G(\overline{S})$ , there exists a bounded net  $\{(x_{\alpha}, x_{\alpha}^*)\}_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{I}} \subseteq G(S)$  which converges to  $(x^{**}, x^*)$  in the  $w^* \times \|\cdot\|$  topology of  $X^{**} \times X^*$ .

In [121] Simons introduced a new class of maximal monotone operators, called operators of negative infimum type (NI).

**Definition 4.1.4.** (see [121]) A maximal monotone operator  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  is of Simons type (NI) if

$$\inf_{(y,y^*)\in G(S)} \langle y^* - x^*, y - x^{**} \rangle \ge 0, \ (\forall)(x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}$$

**Remark 4.1.1.** Marques Alves and Svaiter recently proved that the class of strongly-representable operators, the class of maximal monotone operators of type (NI) and the class of maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D) coincide (cf. [89, Theorem 1.2] and [90, Theorem 4.4]).

#### 4.2 About some stable strong duality problems

#### 4.2.1 Conjugate duality

Let V be a separated locally convex space and  $F: V \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  a proper function. Recall that the optimization problem

$$(PG): \inf_{v \in V} F(v)$$

is called the primal problem (see [15]).

Consider W an other separated locally convex space, and the function  $\Phi : V \times W \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying  $\Phi(v,0) = F(v)$  for all  $v \in V$ . The function  $\Phi$  is called perturbation function. Then, (PG) can be written as

$$(PG): \inf_{v \in V} \Phi(v,0).$$

Let  $V^*$  and  $W^*$  be the topological dual spaces of V and W and assume that  $V^*$  and  $W^*$ , respectively, are endowed with the weak<sup>\*</sup> ( $w(V^*, V)$ , respectively,  $w(W^*, W)$ ) topology. The conjugate dual problem of (*PG*) can be formulated as

$$(DG): \sup_{w^* \in W^*} -\Phi^*(0, w^*).$$

Let us denote by v(PG) and v(DG) the optimal values of the problem (PG) and (DG), respectively. We say that for the optimization problems (PG) and (DG) strong duality holds, if v(PG) = v(DG) and the dual (DG) has an optimal solution.

For every  $v^* \in V^*$  consider the extension of the primal problem (PG)

$$(PG^{v^*}): \inf_{v \in V} \{\Phi(v,0) - \langle v^*, v \rangle \}.$$

Its conjugate dual is given by

$$(DG^{v^*}): \sup_{w^* \in W^*} -\Phi^*(v^*, w^*).$$

We say that for the optimization problems (PG) and (DG) stable strong duality holds, if for all  $v^* \in V^*$  for  $(PG^{v^*})$  and  $(DG^{v^*})$  strong duality holds, i.e.  $v(PG^{v^*}) = v(DG^{v^*})$  and the dual  $(DG^{v^*})$  has an optimal solution.

In what follows assume that  $\Phi$  is proper and convex and  $0 \in \operatorname{pr}_W(\operatorname{dom} \Phi)$ . In [15] is considered the following regularity condition:

 $(RC_2^{\Phi}): V$  and W are Fréchet spaces,  $\Phi$  is lower semicontinuous and  $0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{pr}_W(\operatorname{dom} \Phi))$ . In [15] was established the following result.

**Theorem 4.2.1.** (Theorem 5.5, [15]) Let  $\Phi: V \times W \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be a proper and convex function such that  $0 \in \operatorname{pr}_W(\operatorname{dom} \Phi)$ . If the regularity conditions  $(RC_2^{\Phi})$  is fulfilled then for (PG) and (DG) stable strong duality holds, i.e.

$$\sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle - \Phi(v, 0) \} = \min_{w^* \in W^*} \Phi^*(v^*, w^*) \, \forall v^* \in V^*.$$

In [16] it has been given a closedness type condition, which is equivalent to stable strong duality in case  $\Phi$  is proper, convex and lower semicontinuous.

**Theorem 4.2.2.** (Theorem 2, [16]) Let  $\Phi : V \times W \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be proper, convex, lower semicontinuous such that  $0 \in \operatorname{pr}_W(\operatorname{dom}(\Phi))$  and let  $U \subseteq V^*$ . The following conditions are equivalent:

$$(i) \ (\Phi(\cdot,0))^*(v^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle - \Phi(v,0) \} = \min_{w^* \in W^*} \Phi^*(v^*,w^*), \text{ for all } v^* \in U.$$

(ii)  $(CQ^{\Phi})(U)$ :  $\operatorname{pr}_{V^* \times \mathbb{R}}(epi(\Phi^*))$  is closed regarding  $U \times \mathbb{R}$  in  $(V^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology.

#### 4.2.2 Fenchel duality

Let X be a real, separated, locally convex space, with its dual  $X^*$  endowed with the  $w^*$  topology, and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f, g : X \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Moreover, assume that dom $(f) \cap \text{dom}(g) \neq \emptyset$ . Consider the following primal problem.

$$(P): \inf_{x \in X} \{ (f+g)(x) \}.$$

The dual of (P) is

$$(D): \sup_{y^* \in Y^*} \{-f^*(y^*) - g^*(-y^*)\}.$$

For every  $x^* \in X^*$  consider the extension of the primal optimization problem  $(P^G)$ 

$$(P^{x^*}): -\sup_{x\in X}\{\langle x^*, x\rangle - (f+g)(x)\},\$$

and its dual

$$(D^{x^*}): - \inf_{y^* \in X^*} \{ f^*(y^*) + g^*(x^* - y^*) \}.$$

**Theorem 4.2.3.** Let U be a nonempty subset of  $X^*$ . The following statements are equivalent:

(i)  $\sup_{x \in X} \{ \langle x^*, x \rangle - (f+g)(x) \} = \min_{y^* \in X^*} \{ f^*(y^*) + g^*(x^*-y^*) \}$  for all  $x^* \in U$ .

(ii) (CQ)(U):  $\{(x^* + y^*, r) : f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) \le r\}$  is closed regarding to  $U \times \mathbb{R}$  in  $(X^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology.

We have the following interior point type regularity condition:

 $(RC_2)$ : X is a Fréchet space and  $0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{dom}(f) - \operatorname{dom}(g))$ . We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.2.4.** If f the regularity condition  $(RC_2)$  is fulfilled then

$$\sup_{x \in X} \{ \langle x^*, x \rangle - (f+g)(x) \} = \min_{y^* \in Y^*} \{ f^*(y^*) + g^*(x^*-y^*) \}, \text{ for all } x^* \in X^*.$$

# 4.2.3 Stable strong duality for the problem having the composition with a linear continuous operator in the objective function

Let X, Y be real separated locally convex spaces, with their dual  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$ , respectively, endowed with the  $w^*$  topology, and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f : X \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $g : Y \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Moreover, let  $A : Y \longrightarrow X$ , respectively,  $B : X \longrightarrow Y$  be two linear and continuous operators such that  $A^{-1}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) \cap \operatorname{dom}(g) \neq \emptyset$ , respectively,  $\operatorname{dom}(f) \cap$  $B^{-1}(\operatorname{dom}(g)) \neq \emptyset$ . Consider the following primal problems.

$$(P^A): \inf_{y \in Y} \{ (f \circ A + g)(y) \},\$$

respectively,

$$(P^B): \inf_{x \in X} \{ (f + g \circ B)(x) \}.$$

It can be easily observed that these two formulations are actually equivalent, (by changing X with Y and f with g), but we prefer to simultaneously consider both formulations, since we will make use later of both forms.

The dual problems of  $(P^A)$ , and of  $(P^B)$  are

$$(D^A): \sup_{x^* \in X^*} \{-f^*(x^*) - g^*(-A^*y^*)\},\$$

and

$$(D^B): \sup_{y^* \in Y^*} \{ -f^*(-B^*y^*) - g^*(y^*) \},\$$

respectively. For every  $x^* \in X^*$ , respectively,  $y^* \in Y^*$  consider the extensions of the primal optimization problems

$$(P^{A^{y^*}}): -\sup_{y\in Y}\{\langle y^*, y\rangle - (f\circ A + g)(y)\},\$$

respectively,

$$(P^{B^{x^*}}): -\sup_{x\in X}\{\langle x^*, x\rangle - (f+g\circ B)(x)\}.$$

Their duals are

$$(D^{A^{y^*}}): -\inf_{x^* \in X^*} \{f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^* - A^*x^*)\},\$$

respectively,

$$(D^{B^{x^*}}): -\inf_{y^*\in Y^*} \{f^*(x^* - B^*y^*) + g^*(y^*)\}.$$

**Theorem 4.2.5.** Let U be a nonempty subset of  $Y^*$ . The following statements are equivalent:

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \sup_{y \in Y} \{ \langle y^*, y \rangle - (f \circ A + g)(y) \} = \min_{x^* \in X^*} \{ f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^* - A^*x^*) \} \ for \ all \ y^* \in U. \\ (ii) \ (CQ^{\Phi_A})(U) : \{ (A^*x^* + y^*, r) : f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) \le r \} \ is \ closed \ regarding \ to \ U \times \mathbb{R} \ in \ (Y^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R} \ topology. \end{array}$ 

**Theorem 4.2.6.** Let U be a nonempty subset of X<sup>\*</sup>. The following statements are equivalent: (i)  $\sup_{x \in X} \{ \langle x^*, x \rangle - (f + g \circ B)(x) \} = \min_{y^* \in Y^*} \{ f^*(x^* - B^*y^*) + g^*(y^*) \}$  for all  $x^* \in U$ . (ii)  $(CQ^{\Phi_B})(U) : \{ (x^* + B^*y^*, r) : f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) \le r \}$  is closed regarding to  $U \times \mathbb{R}$  in  $(X^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology.

We have the following regularity conditions:

 $(RC_2^{\Phi_A}): X \text{ and } Y \text{ are Fréchet spaces and } 0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{dom}(f) - A(\operatorname{dom}(g))), \text{ respectively},$ 

 $(RC_2^{\Phi_B}): X$  and Y are Fréchet spaces and  $0 \in \mathrm{sqri}(\mathrm{dom}(g) - B(\mathrm{dom}(f))).$  We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.2.7.** If one of the regularity conditions  $(RC_2^{\Phi_A})$ ,  $\}$ , respectively,  $(RC_2^{\Phi_B})$ , is fulfilled then

$$\sup_{y \in Y} \{ \langle y^*, y \rangle - (f \circ A + g)(y) \} = \min_{x^* \in X^*} \{ f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^* - A^*x^*) \} \text{ for all } y^* \in Y^*,$$

respectively,

$$\sup_{x \in X} \{ \langle x^*, x \rangle - (f + g \circ B)(x) \} = \min_{y^* \in Y^*} \{ f^*(x^* - B^*y^*) + g^*(y^*) \} \text{ for all } x^* \in X^*.$$

# 4.2.4 Stable strong duality for the problem having the sum of two functions each composed with a linear continuous operator in the objective function

Let X, Y, Z be real separated locally convex spaces, with their duals  $X^*$ ,  $Y^*$  and  $Z^*$ , respectively, endowed with the  $w^*$  topology, and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  and  $g: Y \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover, let  $A: Z \longrightarrow X$  and  $B: Z \longrightarrow Y$  be two linear and continuous operators such that  $A^{-1}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) \cap B^{-1}(\operatorname{dom}(g)) \neq \emptyset$ . Consider the following primal problem.

$$(P^{AB}): \inf_{z \in Z} \{ (f \circ A + g \circ B)(z) \}$$

We obtain, the dual of  $(P^{AB})$  being

$$(D^{AB}): \sup_{(x^*,y^*)\in X^*\times Y^*} \{-f^*(x^*) - g^*(y^*): A^*x^* + B^*y^* = 0\}.$$

For every  $z^* \in Z^*$  consider the extension of the primal optimization problem

$$(P^{AB^{z^*}}): -\sup_{z\in Z}\{\langle z^*, z\rangle - (f\circ A + g\circ B)(z)\},\$$

and its dual

$$(D^{AB^{z^*}}): - \inf_{(x^*, y^*) \in X^* \times Y^*} \{ f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) : A^*x^* + B^*y^* = z^* \}$$

Consider the regularity condition

 $(CQ^{\Phi_{AB}})(U): \{(A^*x^* + B^*y^*, r): f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) \leq r\} \text{ is closed regarding } U \times \mathbb{R} \text{ in } (Z^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R} \text{ topology.} \}$ 

We have the following theorem.

Theorem 4.2.8. The following conditions are equivalent.

(i)  $(CQ^{\Phi_{AB}})(U)$  is fulfilled.

(ii) For all  $z^* \in U$  we have  $(f \circ A + g \circ B)^*(z^*) = \inf_{(x^*, y^*) \in X^* \times Y^*} \{f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) : A^*x^* + B^*y^* = z^*\}$  and the infimum is attained.

We have the following interior point type regularity condition:

 $(RC_2^{\Phi_{AB}}): Z, X \text{ and } Y \text{ are Fréchet spaces and}$ 

 $(0,0) \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{dom}(f) \times \operatorname{dom}(g) - (A \times B)(\Delta_Z))$ . We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.2.9.** If the regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\Phi_{AB}})$  is fulfilled then

$$\sup_{z \in Z} \{ \langle z^*, z \rangle - (f \circ A + g \circ B)(z) \} = \min_{(x^*, y^*) \in X^* \times Y^*} \{ f^*(x^*) + g^*(y^*) : A^*x^* + B^*y^* = z^* \} \, \forall z^* \in Z^*.$$

#### 4.3 The conjugate of some generalized inf-convolution formulas

#### **4.3.1** The inf-convolution formulas $\Box_1$ and $\Box_2$

Let X, Y be two real, separated, locally convex spaces, with their dual  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$  endowed with the  $w^*$ -topology, and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f, g : X \times Y \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ .

The inf-convolution formulas  $\Box_1$  and  $\Box_2$  are introduced by  $f\Box_1g: X \times Y \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$(f\Box_1 g)(x, y) = \inf\{f(u, y) + g(v, y) : u, v \in X, u + v = x\},\$$

respectively,  $f \Box_2 g : X \times Y \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$(f\Box_2 g)(x, y) = \inf\{f(x, u) + g(x, v) : u, v \in Y, u + v = y\}.$$

We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.3.1.** Let X, Y be two real separated locally convex spaces, let their duals  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$  be endowed with the  $w^*$ -topology, and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f, g : X \times Y \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $\operatorname{pr}_Y(\operatorname{dom}(f)) \cap \operatorname{pr}_Y(\operatorname{dom}(g)) \neq \emptyset$  and let  $V \subseteq X^*, V \neq \emptyset$ . The following conditions are equivalent:

(i)  $(f\Box_1g)^*(x^*, y^*) = (f^*\Box_2g^*)(x^*, y^*)$  and  $f^*\Box_2g^*$  is exact for every  $(x^*, y^*) \in V \times Y^*$ .

(ii)  $(CQ^{\square_1})$ :  $\{(u^*, v^*, a^* + b^*, r) \in X^* \times X^* \times Y^* \times \mathbb{R} : f^*(u^*, a^*) + g^*(v^*, b^*) \leq r\}$  is closed regarding the set  $\Delta_V \times Y^* \times \mathbb{R}$  in the  $(X^*, w^*) \times (X^*, w^*) \times (Y^*, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology, where  $\Delta_V = \{(x^*, x^*) : x^* \in V\}$ .

Consider the following regularity condition:  $(RC_2^{\Box_1}) : X$  and Y are Fréchet spaces and  $0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{pr}_Y \operatorname{dom}(f) - \operatorname{pr}_Y \operatorname{dom}(g))$ . We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.3.2.** If the regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\Box_1})$  is fulfilled then

 $(f\Box_1g)^*(x^*, y^*) = (f^*\Box_2g^*)(x^*, y^*)$  and  $f^*\Box_2g^*$  is exact for every  $(x^*, y^*) \in X^* \times Y^*$ .

#### 4.3.2 The inf-convolution formulas $\Box_1^A$ and $\Box_2^A$

Let X and Y be two normed spaces, with their dual  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$ , and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f: X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $g: Y \times Y^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Assume, that the dual spaces of  $X \times X^*$  and  $Y \times Y^*$  respectively,  $X^* \times X^{**}$  and  $Y^* \times Y^{**}$  respectively, are endowed with the  $w^*$  topology. Moreover, let  $A: X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator and  $A^*: Y^* \longrightarrow X^*$ , respectively  $A^{**}: X^{**} \longrightarrow Y^{**}$  be its adjoint, respectively its biadjoint operator.

Consider the following generalized inf-convolution formulas,  $f \Box_1^A g: Y \times Y^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$(f\Box_1^A g)(y, y^*) = \inf\{f(x, A^* y^*) + g(y - Ax, y^*) : x \in X\},\$$

respectively,  $f^* \Box_2^A g^* : Y^* \times Y^{**} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}},$ 

$$(f^* \Box_2^A g^*)(y^*, y^{**}) = \inf\{f^*(A^* y^*, x^{**}) + g^*(y^*, y^{**} - A^{**} x^{**}) : x^{**} \in X^{**}\}$$

**Theorem 4.3.3.** If  $\operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) \cap A^*(\operatorname{pr}_{Y^*}(\operatorname{dom}(g))) \neq \emptyset$  then the following conditions are equivalent.

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \; (CQ^{\Box_1^A}) : \; \{(x^*, y^*, A^{**}x^{**} + y^{**}, r) : f^*(x^*, x^{**}) + g^*(y^*, y^{**}) \leq r\} \; is \; closed \; regarding \; the \; set \; \Delta_{A^*}^{Y^*} \times Y^{**} \times \mathbb{R} \; in \; the \; (X^*, w^*) \times (Y^*, w^*) \times (Y^{**}, w^*) \times \mathbb{R} \; topology, \; where \; \Delta_{A^*}^{Y^*} = \{(A^*y^*, y^*) : y^* \in Y^*\}. \end{array}$ 

(*ii*) 
$$(f\Box_1^A g)^*(y^*, y^{**}) = (f^*\Box_2^A g^*)(y^*, y^{**})$$
 and  $f^*\Box_2^A g^*$  is exact for every  $(y^*, y^{**}) \in Y^* \times Y^{**}$ .

Consider the following regularity condition:  $(RC_2^{\square_1^A}) : 0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) - A^* \operatorname{pr}_{Y^*}(\operatorname{dom}(g))).$ We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.3.4.** If the regularity conditions  $(RC_2^{\Box_1^A})$  is fulfilled then  $(f\Box_1^A g)^*(y^*, y^{**}) = (f^*\Box_2^A g^*)(y^*, y^{**})$  and  $f^*\Box_2^A g^*$  is exact for every  $(y^*, y^{**}) \in Y^* \times Y^{**}$ .

#### **4.3.3** The inf-convolution formulas $\triangle_1^A$ and $\triangle_2^A$

Let X and Y be two normed spaces, with their dual  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$ , and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f: X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $g: Y \times Y^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Assume, that the dual spaces of  $X \times X^*$  and  $Y \times Y^*$  respectively,  $X^* \times X^{**}$  and  $Y^* \times Y^{**}$  respectively, are endowed with the  $w^*$  topology. Moreover, let  $A: X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator and  $A^*: Y^* \longrightarrow X^*$ , respectively  $A^{**}: X^{**} \longrightarrow Y^{**}$  be its adjoint, respectively its biadjoint operator.

Consider the following generalized inf-convolution formulas,  $f \triangle_2^A g : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$(f \triangle_2^A g)(x, x^*) = \inf\{f(x, x^* - A^* y^*) + g(Ax, y^*) : y^* \in Y^*\},\$$

respectively,  $f^* \triangle_1^A g^* : X^* \times X^{**} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,

$$(f^* \triangle_1^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**}) = \inf\{f^*(x^* - A^* y^*, x^{**}) + g^*(y^*, A^{**} x^{**}) : y^* \in Y^*\}.$$

**Theorem 4.3.5.** If  $A(\operatorname{pr}_X(\operatorname{dom}(f))) \cap (\operatorname{pr}_Y(\operatorname{dom}(g))) \neq \emptyset$  then the following conditions are equivalent.

(i)  $(CQ^{\Delta_2^A})$ :  $\{(x^* + A^*y^*, x^{**}, y^{**}, r) : f^*(x^*, x^{**}) + g^*(y^*, y^{**}) \le r\}$  is closed regarding the set  $X^* \times \Delta_{X^{**}}^{A^{**}} \times \mathbb{R}$  in the  $(X^*, w^*) \times (X^{**}, w^*) \times (Y^{**}, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology, where  $\Delta_{X^{**}}^{A^{**}} = \{(x^{**}, A^{**}x^{**}) : x^{**} \in X^{**}\}.$ 

 $(ii) \ (f \triangle_2^A g)^*(x^*, x^{**}) = (f^* \triangle_1^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**}) \ and \ f^* \triangle_1^A g^* \ is \ exact \ for \ every \ (x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}.$ 

Consider the following regularity condition:  $(RC_2^{\triangle_2^A}): 0 \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{pr}_Y(\operatorname{dom}(g)) - A(\operatorname{pr}_X(\operatorname{dom}(f)))).$ We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.3.6.** If the regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\triangle_2^A})$  is fulfilled then  $(f\triangle_2^A g)^*(x^*, x) = (f^*\triangle_1^A g^*)(x^*, x)$  and  $f^*\triangle_1^A g^*$  is exact for every  $(x^*, x) \in X^* \times X$ .

#### **4.3.4** The inf-convolution formulas $\bigcirc_1^A$ and $\bigcirc_2^A$

Let X and Y be two normed spaces, with their dual  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$ , and consider the proper, convex and lower semicontinuous functions  $f: X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $g: Y \times Y^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Assume, that the dual spaces of  $X \times X^*$  and  $Y \times Y^*$  respectively,  $X^* \times X^{**}$  and  $Y^* \times Y^{**}$  respectively, are endowed with the  $w^*$  topology. Moreover, let  $A: X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator and  $A^*: Y^* \longrightarrow X^*$ , respectively  $A^{**}: X^{**} \longrightarrow Y^{**}$  be its adjoint, respectively its biadjoint operator.

Consider the following generalized inf-convolution formulas,  $f \bigcirc_1^A g : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$(f \bigcirc_{1}^{A} g)(x, x^{*}) = \inf_{\substack{u, w \in X \\ v^{*} \in Y^{*}}} \{f(u, x^{*}) + g(Aw, v^{*}) : u + w = x, A^{*}v^{*} = x^{*}\},$$

respectively,  $f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^* : X^* \times X^{**} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,

$$(f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**}) = \inf_{\substack{u^{**}, w^{**} \in X^{**} \\ v^* \in Y^*}} \{f^*(x^*, u^{**}) + g^*(v^*, A^{**}w^{**}) : u^{**} + w^{**} = x^{**}, A^*v^* = x^*\}.$$

Due to our best knowledge  $\bigcirc_1^A$  and  $\bigcirc_2^A$  were not considered until now in the literature. Obviously, when  $A \equiv id_X$ , X = Y we obtain  $f \square_1 g$  and  $f^* \square_2 g^*$ , respectively. The following result provides a closedness type regularity condition that not only ensures that  $(f \bigcirc_1^A g)^*(x^*, x^{**}) = (f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**})$  and  $f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*$  is exact for every  $(x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}$ , but also is equivalent to it.

**Theorem 4.3.7.** If dom $(g) \times \operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) \cap ImA \times \Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*} \neq \emptyset$ , where  $\Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*} = \{(y^*, A^*y^*) | y^* \in Y^*\}$ , then the following statements are equivalent.

(i)  $(CQ^{\bigcirc_1^A})$ :  $\{(u^*, A^*v^*, A^{**}u^{**} + v^{**}, r) : f^*(u^*, u^{**}) + g^*(v^*, v^{**}) \le r\}$  is closed regarding the set  $\Delta_{X^*} \times Im(A^{**}) \times \mathbb{R}$  in the  $(X^*, w^*) \times (X^*, w^*) \times (Y^{**}, w^*) \times \mathbb{R}$  topology, where  $\Delta_{X^*} = \{(x^*, x^*) : x^* \in X^*\}.$ 

$$(ii) \ (f \bigcirc_1^A g)^*(x^*, x^{**}) = (f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**}) \ and \ f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^* \ is \ exact \ for \ every \ (x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}.$$

Consider the following regularity condition:  $(RC_2^{\bigcup_1^*}) : (0,0,0) \in \operatorname{sqri}(\operatorname{dom}(g) \times \operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(f)) - Im(A) \times \Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*})$ , where  $\Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*} = \{(y^*, A^*y^*) | y^* \in Y^*\}$ . We have the following result.

**Theorem 4.3.8.** If the regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\bigcirc_1^A})$  is fulfilled then  $(f \bigcirc_1^A g)^*(x^*, x^{**}) = (f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*)(x^*, x^{**})$  and  $f^* \bigcirc_2^A g^*$  is exact for every  $(x^*, x^{**}) \in X^* \times X^{**}$ .

## 4.4 The maximal monotonicity of the parallel sums of two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D)

#### 4.4.1 The maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum S||T|

Using stable strong duality we prove the maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum of two maximal monotone operators, (introduced by Pasty in [104]), under the weakest condition knowing so far in literature.

Everywhere in the sequel, unless is other specified, X denotes a Banach space and  $X^*$  denotes its dual and  $X^{**}$  denotes its bidual.

**Definition 4.4.1.** For given monotone operators  $S, T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  their parallel sum, is defined by

$$S||Tx = (S^{-1} + T^{-1})^{-1}x, \forall x \in X.$$

It can be easily shown that  $S||Tx = \bigcup_{y \in X} (S(y) \cap T(x-y)).$ 

**Theorem 4.4.1.** Let  $S, T : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  be two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), with strong representative functions  $h_S$  and  $h_T$ , such that  $\operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(h_S)) \cap \operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(h_T)) \neq \emptyset$ , and consider the function  $h : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $h(x, x^*) = \operatorname{cl}_{\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|_*}(h_S \Box_1 h_T)(x, x^*)$ . Assume that  $R(\overline{S}^{-1}) \subseteq X$ , (where  $\overline{S}$  is the Gossez monotone closure of the operator S), and that one of the following conditions is fulfilled.

- (a) The regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\Box_1})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.
- (b)  $(CQ^{\Box_1})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.

Then then h is a strong representative function of S||T and S||T is a maximal monotone operator of Gossez type (D).

#### 4.4.2 The maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum $S||^{A}T$

In the sequel, unless is otherwise specified, X and Y are Banach spaces, and  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$ , respectively  $X^{**}$  and  $Y^{**}$  denote their duals, respectively their biduals.

**Definition 4.4.2.** Consider the monotone operators  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  and let  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator, and  $A^*$  its adjoint operator. The generalized parallel sum  $S||^A T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  is defined as follows:

$$S||^{A}T := (AS^{-1}A^{*} + T^{-1})^{-1}.$$

**Theorem 4.4.2.** Consider  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$  a linear and continuous operator and let us denote by  $A^*$  its adjoint operator, and by  $A^{**}$  its biadjoint operator. Let  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  be two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D) with strong representative functions  $h_S$  and  $h_T$  respectively, such that  $\operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom}(h_S)) \cap A^*(\operatorname{pr}_{Y^*}(\operatorname{dom}(h_T))) \neq \emptyset$ . Consider the function  $h: Y \times Y^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}, h(y, y^*) = \operatorname{cl}_{\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|_*}(h_S \Box_1^A h_T)(y, y^*)$ . Assume that  $R(\overline{S}^{-1}) \subseteq X$ , and that one of the following conditions is fulfilled.

- (a) The regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\square_1^A})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.
- (b)  $(CQ^{\square_1^A})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.

Then h is a strong representative function of  $S||^{A}T$  and  $S||^{A}T$  is a maximal monotone operator of Gossez type (D).

#### 4.4.3 The maximal monotonicity of the operator $S + A^*TA$

In what follows X, respectively Y will be Banach spaces,  $X^*$ , respectively  $Y^*$  denote their dual spaces,  $X^{**}$ , respectively  $Y^{**}$  denote their bidual spaces. Consider the monotone operators  $S: X \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $T: Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  and let  $A: X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator, and  $A^*$  its adjoint operator. A well known generalized sum involving S and T is defined as follows:

$$M: X \rightrightarrows X^*, M := S + A^*TA.$$

In what follows we give some sufficient conditions which ensure the maximal monotonicity of  $S + A^*TA$ , where S, respectively T are maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D).

**Theorem 4.4.3.** Consider  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$  a linear and continuous operator and let us denote by  $A^*$  its adjoint operator, and by  $A^{**}$  its biadjoint operator. Let  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  be two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D) with strong representative functions  $h_S$  and  $h_T$  respectively, such that  $A(\operatorname{pr}_X(\operatorname{dom}(h_S))) \cap (\operatorname{pr}_Y(\operatorname{dom}(h_T))) \neq \emptyset$ . Consider the function  $h : X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $h(x, x^*) = \operatorname{cl}_{\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|_*}(h_S \triangle_2^A h_T)(x, x^*)$ . Assume that one of the following conditions is fulfilled.

- (a) The regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\Delta_2^A})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.
- (b)  $(CQ^{\triangle_2^A})$  for  $h_S$ , respectively  $h_T$  holds.

Then h is a strong representative function of  $S + A^*TA$  and  $S + A^*TA$  is a maximal monotone operator of Gossez type (D).

#### 4.4.4 The maximal monotonicity of $S||_A T$

In what follows X, respectively Y will be Banach spaces,  $X^*$ , respectively  $Y^*$  denote their dual spaces and  $X^{**}$ , respectively  $Y^{**}$  denote their bidual spaces. Let  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$ , respectively  $T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  be two monotone operators. Moreover, consider the continuous, linear operator  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$ , and let us denote by  $A^*$  its adjoint operator and by  $A^{**}$  its biadjoint operator. Recall that the a generalized parallel sum  $S||_A T$ , (see [109]), of the monotone operators S, respectively T is defined as

$$S||_A T : X \rightrightarrows X^*, S||_A T := (S^{-1} + (A^*TA)^{-1})^{-1}.$$

**Remark 4.4.1.** If X = Y,  $A \equiv id_X$ , we obtain the concept of parallel sum of two operators, introduced by Pasty in [104], that is

$$S||T: X \rightrightarrows X^*, S||T:=(S^{-1}+T^{-1})^{-1}.$$

Next we will provide some conditions that ensures the maximal monotonicity of the generalized parallel sum  $S||_A T$ . Due to our best knowledge, in the literature does not exists so far a known condition that provides this result.

**Theorem 4.4.4.** Let  $A : X \longrightarrow Y$  be a linear and continuous operator, with its adjoint denoted by  $A^*$ , and its biadjoint denoted by  $A^{**}$ . Let  $S : X \rightrightarrows X^*$  and  $T : Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  be two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), with strong representative functions  $h_S$  and  $h_T$  respectively, such that

dom  $h_T \times \operatorname{pr}_{X^*}(\operatorname{dom} h_S) \cap \operatorname{Im} A \times \Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*} \neq \emptyset$ , where  $\Delta_{Y^*}^{A^*} = \{(y^*, A^*y^*) : y^* \in Y^*\}$ . Consider the function

$$h: X \times X^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}, \ h(x, x^*) = \operatorname{cl}_{\|\cdot\| \times \|\cdot\|_*}(h_S \bigcirc_1^A h_T)(x, x^*),$$

and assume that  $R(\overline{S}^{-1}) \subseteq X$ , and that one of the following conditions is fulfilled.

- (a) The regularity condition  $(RC_2^{\bigcirc_1^A})$  for  $h_S$  and  $h_T$  hold.
- (b)  $(CQ^{\bigcirc_1^A})$  for  $h_S$  and  $h_T$  hold.

Then h is a strong representative function of  $S||_A T$  and the generalized parallel sum  $S||_A T$  is maximal monotone operator of Gossez type (D).

## Bibliography

- C.D. Aliprantis, K.C. Border, Infinite dimensional analysis, A hitchhiker's guide, Springer (2006).
- [2] W.N. Anderson and R.J. Duffin, Series and parallel addition of matrices, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 26, pp. 576-594 (1969).
- [3] H. Attouch, Z. Chbani, A. Moudafi, Une notion doprateur de reession pour les maximaux monotones, Séminaire dAnalyse Convexe, Montpellier, Exposé, 22 (12), pp. 1-37 (1992).
- [4] M. Avriel, W.T. Diewert, S. Schaible, I. Zang, *Generalized concavity*, Pienn um Publishing Corp., New York (1988).
- [5] C. Baiocchi, A. Capelo, Variational and Quasi-Variational Inequalities, Wiley, New York (1984).
- [6] A. Ballier, B. Durand, E. Jeandel, Structural Aspects of tillings, Symposium on Theoretical Aspects of Computer Science (2008 Bordeaux), pp. 61-72, arxiv.org/pdf/0802.2828v1.
- [7] H.H. Bauschke, Fenchel duality, Fitzpatrick functions and the extension of firmly nonexpansive mappings, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 135 (1), pp. 135-139 (2007).
- [8] H.H. Bauschke, D.A. McLaren, H.S. Sendov, *Fitzpatrick functions: inequalities, examples and remarks on a problem by S. Fitzpatrick*, Journal of Convex Analysis, 13 (3-4), pp. 499-523 (2006).
- [9] A. Bensoussan, J.L. Lions, Applications des Inequations Variationelles en Control et Stochastiques, Dunod, Paris (1978).
- [10] D.P. Bertsekas, E.M. Gafni, Projection methods for variational inequalities with applications to the traffic assignment problem. Math. Prog. Study, 17, pp. 139-159 (1982).
- [11] J.M. Borwein, Maximality of sums of two maximal monotone operators in general Banach space, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 135 (12), pp. 3917-3924 (2007).
- [12] J.M. Borwein, A.S. Lewis, Partially finite convex programming, part I: Quasi relative interiors and duality theory, Mathematical Programming, 57 (1), pp. 15-48 (1992).
- [13] J.M. Borwein, V. Jeyakumar, A.S. Lewis, H. Wolkowicz, Constrained approximation via convex programming, Preprint, University of Waterloo, (1988).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [14] J.M. Borwein, R. Goebel, Notions of relative interior in Banach spaces, Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 115 (4), pp. 2542-2553 (2003).
- [15] R.I. Bot, Conjugate duality in convex optimization, Springer (2010).
- [16] R.I. Boţ, E.R. Csetnek, An application of the bivariate inf-convolution formula to enlargments of monotone operators, Set-Valued Anal, 16, pp. 983-997 (2008).
- [17] R.I. Boţ, E.R. Csetnek, G. Wanka, A new condition for maximal monotonicity via representative functions, Nonlinear Analysis, 67, pp. 2390-2402 (2007).
- [18] R.I. Boţ, S.-M. Grad, G. Wanka, Maximal monotonicity for the precomposition with a linear operator, SIAM Journal on Optimization, 17 (4), pp. 1239-1252 (2006).
- [19] R.I. Boţ, S.-M. Grad, G. Wanka, Weaker constraint qualifications in maximal monotonicity, Numerical Functional Analysis and Optimization, 28 (1-2), pp. 27-41 (2007).
- [20] R.I. Boţ, S. László, On the generalized parallel sum of two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), arXiv:1106.2069v1 [math.FA] (submitted 2011).
- [21] R.I. Boţ, G. Wanka, A weaker regularity condition for subdifferential calculus and Fenchel duality in infinite dimensional spaces, Nonlinear Analysis, 64, pp. 2787-2804 (2006).
- [22] F.E. Browder, Multi-valued monotone nonlinear mappings, Trans. AMS, 118, pp. 338-551 (1965).
- [23] F.E. Browder, Nonlinear maximal monotone mappings in Banach spaces, Math. Ann., 175, pp. 89-113 (1968).
- [24] F.E. Browder, The fixed point theory of multi-valued mappings in topological vector spaces, Math. Ann., 177, pp. 283-301 (1968).
- [25] F.E. Browder, P. Hess, Nonlinear mappings of monotone type in Banach spaces, J. Functional Analysis, 11, pp. 251-294 (1972).
- [26] R.S. Burachik, S. Fitzpatrick, On a family of convex functions associated to subdifferentials, Journal of Nonlinear and Convex Analysis, 6 (1), pp. 165-171 (2005).
- [27] R.S. Burachik and A.N. Iusem, Set-Valued Mappings and Enlargements of Monotone Operators, Springer Optimization and Its Applications, Springer US, (2008).
- [28] R.S. Burachik, B.F. Svaiter, Maximal monotonicity, conjugation and duality product, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 131 (8), pp. 2379-2383 (2003).
- [29] R.S. Burachik, B.F. Svaiter, Maximal monotone operators, convex functions and a special family of enlargements, Set-Valued Analysis, 10 (4), pp. 297-316 (2002).
- [30] A. Cambini, L. Martein, *Generalized Convexity and Optimization: Theory and Applications*, Springer, (2008).
- [31] G. Cantor, Gesammelte Abhandlungen, Ed by E. Zermelo, (1932). (Reprinted by Georg Olms Publ., Hildesheim, 1962.)

- [32] P.T. Church, Factorization of differentiable maps with branch set dimension at most n-3, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 115, pp. 370-387 (1965).
- [33] P.T. Church, J.G. Timourian, Differentiable maps with 0-dimensional critical set, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, 41 (3), pp. 615-630 (1972).
- [34] R. Correa, A. Jofre and L. Thibault, Characterization of lower semicontinuous convex functions, Proc. AMS., 116, pp. 67-72 (1992).
- [35] J.P. Crouzeix, Criteria for Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity in the Differentiable Case, in N. Hadjisavas, S. Komlósi and S. Schaible, Handbook of Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity, eds., Springer, Series Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, Springer, New York (2005), pp. 389-420.
- [36] J.P. Crouzeix, Characterizations of Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity, A survey, in Generalized Convexity, Generalized Monotonicity: Recent Results, edited by J.P. Crouzeix, J.E. Martinez-Legaz and M. Volle, Nonconvex Optimization and Its Applications, 27, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1998), pp. 237-256.
- [37] R.E. Csetnek, Overcoming the failure of the classical generalized interior-point regularity conditions in convex optimization. Applications of the duality theory to enlargements of maximal monotone operators, Dissertation, http://archiv.tuchemnitz.de/pub/2009/0202/data/dissertation.csetnek.pdf.
- [38] S. Dafermos, Exchange price equilibria and variational inequalities, Math. Programming 46, pp. 391-402 (1990).
- [39] A. Daniilidis and P. Georgiev, Approximate convexity and submonotonicity, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 291, pp. 292-301 (2004).
- [40] M. Fabian, P. Habala, P. Hájek, V. Montesinos Santaluca, J. Pelant, V. Zizler, Functional Analysis and Infinite-Dimensional Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York (2001).
- [41] K. Fan, A generalization of Tychonoff's fixed point theorem, Math.Ann., 142, pp. 305-310 (1961).
- [42] K. Fan, Minimax Theorems, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 39, pp. 42-47 (1953).
- [43] R. Ferrentino, Variational Inequalities and Optimization Problems, Applied Mathematical Sciences, 1 (47), pp. 2327-2343 (2007).
- [44] F. Ferro, A minimax theorem for vector-valued functions, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 60, pp. 19-31 (1989).
- [45] G. Fichera, Problemi elastostatici con vincoli unilaterali: il problema di Signorini con ambigue condizioni al contorno, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Mem. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Sez., 7 (8), pp. 91-140 (1963-64).
- [46] S. Fitzpatrick, *Representing monotone operators by convex functions*, in: Workshop/Miniconference on Functional Analysis and Optimization (Canberra, 1988), Proceedings

of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis, 20, Australian National University, Canberra, pp. 59-65 (1988).

- [47] D. Gale and H. Nikaido, The Jacobian matrix and the global univalence of mappings, Math. Ann., 159, pp. 81-93 (1965).
- [48] P. Georgiev, Submonotone Mappings in Banach Spaces and Applications, Set-Valued Analysis, 5, pp. 1-35 (1997).
- [49] F. Giannessi, A. Maugeri, Variational Inequalities and Network Equilibrium Problems, Plenum Press, New York (1995).
- [50] A. Goreham, Sequential Convergence in Topological Spaces, http://arxiv.org/abs/math/0412 558
- [51] J.-P. Gossez, Opérateurs monotones non lonéaires dans les espaces de Banach non réflexifs, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 34, pp. 371-395 (1971).
- [52] N. Hadjisavas, Generalized convexity, generalized monotonicity and nonsmooth analysis, in N. Hadjisavas, S. Komlósi and S. Schaible, Handbook of generalized convexity and generalized monotonicity, eds., Springer, Series Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, Springer, New York (2005), pp. 465-499.
- [53] N. Hadjisavas, S. Komlósi and S. Schaible, Handbook of generalized convexity and generalized monotonicity, eds., Springer, Series Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, Springer, New York (2005).
- [54] N. Hadjisavas, J.E. Martínez-Legaz and J.P. Penot, Generalized convexity and generalized monotonicity, Proceedings of the 6th international symposium, Samos, Greece, September 1999, Lecture Notes in Econ. and Math. Systems # 502, Springer, Berlin (2001).
- [55] N. Hadjisavas and S. Schaible, *Generalized Monotone Maps*, in N. Hadjisavas, S. Komlósi and S. Schaible, Handbook of Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity, eds; Springer, Series Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, Springer, New York (2005), pp. 389-420.
- [56] N. Hadjisavas and S. Schaible, On strong pseudomonotonicity and (semi)strict quasimonotonicity, J. Optim. Theory Appl., 85 (3), pp. 741-742 (1995).
- [57] P. Hartman, G. Stampacchia, On some nonlinear elliptic differential functional equations, Acta Math. 115, pp. 271-310 (1966).
- [58] A. Hassouni, Sous-Differentiels des fonctions quasiconvexes, Thèse de 3ème Cycle, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse (1983).
- [59] K. Hofman and R. Kunze, Linear Algebra (second edition), Prentice Hall (1971).
- [60] R.B. Holmes, *Geometric Functional Analysis and its Applications*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1975).
- [61] V.I. Istrăţescu, Fixed point theory, Reidel (1981).

- [62] A. Iusem, G. Kassay, W. Sosa, An existence result for equilibrium problems with some surjectivity consequences, Journal of Convex Analysis, 16 (3&4), pp. 807-826 (2009).
- [63] V. Jeyakumar and D.T. Luc, Nonsmooth Vector Functions and Continuous Optimization, Springer Optimization and Its Applications, 10, pp. 207-254 (2008)
- [64] V. Jeyakumar, H. Wolkowicz, Generalizations of Slater's constraint qualification for infinite convex programs, Mathematical Programming Series B, 57 (1), pp. 85-101 (1992).
- [65] A. Jofré, D.T. Luc, M. Théra,  $\epsilon$ -Subdifferential and  $\epsilon$ -Monotonicity, Nonlinear Analysis, 33, pp. 71-90 (1998).
- [66] A. Jourani, Subdifferentiability and Subdifferential monotonicity of  $\gamma$  parconvex functions, Control Cibernet., 25, pp. 721-737 (1996).
- [67] S. Karamardian, Complementarity problems over cones with monotone and pseudomonotone maps, J. Optim. Theory Appl., 18, pp. 445-454 (1976).
- [68] S. Karmardian, S. Schaible, *Seven Kinds of Monotone Maps*, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 66 (1), pp. 37-46 (1990).
- [69] S. Karmardian, S. Schaible, and J.P. Crouzeix, *Characterizations of Generalized Monotone Maps*, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 76 (3), pp. 399-413 (1993).
- [70] G. Kassay, J. Kolumbán, Multivalued Parametric Variational Inequalities with  $\alpha$ -Pseudomonotone Maps, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 107(1), pp. 35-50 (2000).
- [71] G. Kassay, C. Pintea, On preimages of a class of generalized monotone operators, Nonlinear Analysis Series A: Theory, Methods & Applications, 73 (11), pp. 3537-3545 (2010).
- [72] G. Kassay, C. Pintea, S. László, Monotone operators and closed countable sets, Optimization, doi:10.1080/02331934.2010.505961, (to appear).
- [73] G. Kassay, C. Pintea, F. Szenkovits, On convexity of preimages of monotone operators, Taiwanese Journal of Mathematics, 13 (2B), pp. 675-686 (2009).
- [74] D. Kinderlehrer, G. Stampacchia, An Introduction to Variational Inequalities and Their Applications, Academic Press, New York (1980).
- [75] M. Kojman, Convexity ranks in higher dimensions, Fund. Math., 164, pp. 143-163 (2000).
- [76] K. Kuratowski, *Topology*, vol. 1, Academic Press, New York and London (1966).
- [77] S. László, Generalized Monotone Operators, Generalized Convex Functions and Closed Countable Sets, Journal of Convex Analysis, 18 (4) (to appear).
- [78] S. László, Some Existence Results of Solutions for General Variational Inequalities, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 150 (3), pp. 425-443 (2011).
- [79] S. László,  $\theta$ -monotone operators and  $\theta$ -convex functions, Taiwanese Journal of Mathematics, (accepted).

- [80] S. László, Multivalued Variational Inequalities in Banach spaces, Appl. Math. Lett., (submitted).
- [81] S. László, Existence of solutions of inverted variational inequalities, Carpathian J. Math., (submitted).
- [82] S. László, A bivariate inf-convolution formula and the maximal monotonicity of the parallel sum of two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), (submitted).
- [83] S. László, About the maximal monotonicity of the generalized sum of two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), (submitted).
- [84] S. László, Some new regularity conditions that ensure the maximal monotonicity of the generalized parallel sum of two maximal monotone operators of Gossez type (D), (submitted).
- [85] J.E. Martínez-Legaz, M. Théra, A convex representation of maximal monotone operators, Journal of Nonlinear and Convex Analysis, 2 (2), pp. 243-247 (2001).
- [86] J.E. Martínez-Legaz, B.F. Svaiter, Monotone operators representable by l.s.c. convex functions, Set-Valued Analysis, 13 (1), pp. 21-46 (2005).
- [87] A. Maugeri, F. Raciti, On Existence Theorems for Monotone and Nonmonotone Variational Inequalities, Journal of Convex Analysis, 16, pp. 899-911 (2009).
- [88] M. Marques Alves, B.F. Svaiter, t Bronsted-Rockafellar property and maximality of monotone operators representable by convex functions in non-reflexive Banach spaces, Journal of Convex Analysis, 15 (4), pp. 693-706 (2008).
- [89] M. Marques Alves, B.F. Svaiter, A new old class of maximal monotone operators, Journal of Convex Analysis, 16 (3-4), pp. 881-890 (2009).
- [90] M. Marques Alves, B.F. Svaiter, On Gossez type (D) maximal monotone operators, Journal of Convex Analysis, 17 (3-4), pp. 1077-1088 (2010).
- [91] G.J. Minty, Monotone (nonlinear) operators in Hilbert spaces, Duke Math. J., 29, pp. 341-346 (1962).
- [92] G.J. Minty, On some aspects of theory of monotone operators, in Theory and Applications of Monotone Operators, Odersi, Gubbio, pp. 67-82 (1969).
- [93] A. Moudafi, On the Stability of the Parallel Sum of Maximal Monotone Operators, J. Of Math. Anal. And App., 199, pp. 478-488 (1996).
- [94] B.S. Mordukhovich, Variational Analysis and Generalized Differentiations. I. Basic Theory, II. Applications, Springer, Series Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences, 330-331, pp. 601-632 (2006).
- [95] J.J. Moreau, Fonctionnelles convexes, Seminaire sur les Équation aux Dérivées Partielles, Collége de France, Paris (1967).

- [96] D.T. Luc, H.V. Ngai, M. Théra, On ε-convexity and ε-monotonicity, in: Calculus of Variations and DifferentialE quations, A. Ioffe, S. Reich, and I. Shafrir (Eds), Research Notes in Mathematics Series, Chapman & Hall, pp. 82-100 (1999).
- [97] H.V. Ngai, J.P. Penot, In Asplund spaces, approximately convex functions and regular functions are generically differentiable, Taiwanese J. Math., 12 (6), pp. 1477-1492 (2008).
- [98] J.W. Nieuwenhuis, Some Minimax Theorems in Vector-Valued Functions, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 40, pp. 463-475 (1983).
- [99] M.A. Noor, General variational inequalities, Appl. Math. Letters, 1, pp. 119-121 (1988).
- [100] M.A. Noor, Projection type methods for general variational inequalities, Soochow Journal of Mathematics, 28 (2), pp. 171-178 (2002).
- [101] M.A. Noor, Merit functions for general variational inequalities, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 316, pp. 736-752 (2006).
- [102] M.A. Noor, Generalized Set-Valued Variational Inequalities, Le Matematiche (Catania), 52, pp. 3-24 (1997).
- [103] R.G. Otero, A. Iusem, Regularity results for semimonotone operators, http://www.preprint. impa.br/ Shadows/SERIE<sub>A</sub>/2010/672.html.
- [104] J.B. Passty, The parallel sum of nonlinear monotone operators, Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl., 10, pp. 215-227 (1986).
- [105] J.P.Penot, *Glimpses upon quasiconvex analysis*, ESAIM: Proceedings, 20, pp. 170-194 (2007).
- [106] J.P. Penot, Is convexity useful for the study of monotonicity?, in: R.P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan (eds.), Nonlinear Analysis and Application, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1- 2, pp. 807-822 (2003).
- [107] J.P. Penot, A representation of maximal monotone operators by closed convex functions and its impact on calculus rules, Comptes Rendus Mathématique. Académie des Sciences Paris, 338 (11), pp. 853-858 (2004).
- [108] J.P. Penot, The relevance of convex analysis for the study of monotonicity, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications, 58 (7-8), pp. 855-871 (2004).
- [109] J.P. Penot, C. Zălinescu, Convex analysis can be helpful for the asymptotic analysis of monotone operators, Math. Program., Ser. B, 116, pp. 481-498 (2009).
- [110] J.P. Penot, C. Zălinescu, Some problems about the representation of monotone operators by convex functions, ANZIAM J., 47, pp. 1-20 (2005).
- [111] R. John, Uses of Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity in Economics, in Handbook of Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity, N. Hadjisavas, S. Komlósi and S. Schaible, eds; Springer, Series Nonconvex Optimization and Its Applications, USA (2005), pp. 619-666.
- [112] H. Riahi, About the inverse operations on the hyperspace of nonlinear monotone operators, Extracta Matematicae, 8 (1), pp. 68-74 (1993).

- [113] R.T. Rockafellar, Conjugate duality and optimization, Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, 16, Society for Industrial and Aplied Mathematics, Philadelphia (1974).
- [114] R.T. Rockafellar, On the maximality of sums of nonlinear monotone operators, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 149, pp. 75-88 (1970).
- [115] R.T. Rockafellar, On the maximal monotonicity of subdifferential mappings, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, 33 (1), pp. 209-216 (1970).
- [116] S. Rolewicz, On  $\alpha(\cdot)$ -monotone multifunctions and differentiability of  $\gamma$ -paraconvex functions, Studia Math., 133, pp. 29-37 (1999).
- [117] S. Rolewicz, Φ-convex functions defined on metric spaces, Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 115 (5), pp. 2631-2652 (2003).
- [118] R. E. Showalter, Monotone operators in Banach space and nonlinear partial differential equations, American Mathematical Society (1997).
- [119] S. Simons, From Hahn-Banach to Monotonicity, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2008).
- [120] S. Simons, *Minimax and Monotonicity*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1998).
- [121] S. Simons, The range os a monotone operator, J. Math. anal. Appl., 199, pp. 176-201 (1996).
- [122] S. Simons, Quadrivariate existence theorems and strong representability, arXiv:0809.0325v2 [math.FA](2011).
- [123] S. Simons, C. Zălinescu, Fenchel duality, Fitzpatrick functions and maximal monotonicity, Journal of Nonlinear and Convex Analysis, 6 (1), pp. 1-22 (2005).
- [124] G. Stampacchia, Formes bilineaires coercitives sur les ensembles convexes, C.R. Acud. Sci. Paris Sér I. Math., 258, pp. 4413-4416 (1964).
- [125] R.U. Verma, A-monotonicity and its role in nonlinear variational inclusions, Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 129 (3), pp. 457-467 (2006).
- [126] M.D. Voisei, The sum and chain rules for maximal monotone operators, Set-Valued Anal, 16, pp. 461-476, (2008).
- [127] M.D. Voisei, Calculus rules for maximal monotone operators in general Banach spaces, Journal of Convex Analysis, 15 (1), pp. 73-85 (2008).
- [128] M.D. Voisei, C. Zălinescu, Linear monotone subspaces of locally convex spaces, Set-Valued and Variational Analysis, 18 (1), pp. 29-55 (2010).
- [129] M.D. Voisei, C. Zălinescu, Strongly-representable monotone operators, Journal of Convex Analysis, 16 (3-4), pp. 1011-1033 (2009).
- [130] M.D. Voisei, C. Zălinescu, Maximal monotonicity criteria for the composition and the sum under minimal interiority conditions, Math. Program. Ser. B, 123, pp. 265-283 (2010).

- [131] J.C. Yao, General variational inequalities in Banach spaces, Appl. Math. Letters, 5, pp. 51-54 (1992).
- [132] L. Yao, An affirmative answer to a problem posed by Zălinescu, Journal of Convex Analysis, 18 (3), pp. 621-626 (2011).
- [133] C. Zălinescu, Convex Analysis in General Vector Spaces, World Scientific, Singapore (2002).
- [134] C. Zălinescu, Solvability results for sublinear functions and operators, Zeitschrift f
  ür Operations Research Series A-B, 31 (3), pp. A79-A101 (1987).
- [135] C. Zălinescu, A comparison of constraint qualifications in infinite-dimensional convex programming revisited, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. B, 40, pp. 353-378 (1999).
- [136] C. Zălinescu, A new proof of the maximal monotonicity of the sum using the Fitzpatrick function, in: F. Giannessi, A. Maugeri (eds.), Variational Analysis and Applications, Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, 79, Springer, New York, pp. 1159-1172 (2005).